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Friday, July 14, 2006
     --- Upon commencing at 9:31 a.m.
     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  
Mr. Stevens.
PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, sir.  We’re here today to address the threshold issue, which was identified in the settlement proposal.  And I think it’s fair to say that from the get-go there may be a little bit of –whether it’s disagreement or misunderstanding, I don’t know what’s the fairer characterization, but there seems to be some difference of opinion as to what we’re here to talk about.  From the company’s perspective, having sent a notice out to all the Rate 115 customers about potential impact on those customers from the approval of the settlement proposal, it’s been the company’s understanding that what we do today is deal with these issues of allocation and where the migration deficiency costs and where the implementation should be allocated as between different rate classes, and deal with all those issues at once.  


The witness panel is here and ready to deal with that.      I think the briefs that I and my friends have circulated can deal with that also.

      I also understand that there’s a very strong appetite on the part of some gas-fired generators to, if possible, address all the things that need to be addressed to have the settlement agreement approved.

      On the other hand, and I’ll let Mr. Thompson speak to this, I think his understanding is we’d be dealing today with just the narrow issue of whether or not any costs or implications would be visited on small-volume customers as opposed to large volume customers.  So perhaps with that introduction I should leave it to Mr. Thompson.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.

     The matter arose, you may recall, it was a dispute between Mr. Warren and me as to whether small were in or small were out.  And my understanding was, and I had discussed this with Mr. Warren, that that was what we were here today to discuss, whether they’re in or they’re out.

      And it’s now taken on, I learned late yesterday and this morning, a far broader ambit as far as the company’s concerned, and Mr. Brown is here and Mr. Moran is here; they want to speak to Rate 125.

      And, quite frankly, I’m not prepared to do all of that.  We came – I came prepared to deal with what Mr. Warren and I were debating, which was whether the small were in and the small were out.  If that happens, there are a number of, I guess, I suppose, techniques that might be applied to deal with both scenarios, but my assumption was we wouldn’t be applying the techniques at least until they had the customer meeting that is specified in the agreement to inform Rate 115 customers as to the impacts of all of this.  

So I have sent out a notice to the IGUA members telling them that that’s what is on the agenda today, and late yesterday I got the material from Enbridge that contains a new proposal – hasn’t been filed in evidence,  so I haven’t had an opportunity to distribute that to the IGUA members.

      So I have quite a different perception as to the scope of what we’re doing today.  And Mr. Warren can speak on behalf of his group.  But it seems to have broadened quite considerably.  And I’d just point out that on the agenda we had today the Enbridge settlement proposal threshold issue and then next week we had Enbridge Issues I and IV, Rate 300.  And I think what is happening, without much notice to anybody, is that my friend is trying to move up material that would have been canvassed in that panel day 13, that he’s trying to move that up into the threshold issue.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So I’m in your hands as to scope but...

     MR. KAISER:  Well, let’s hear from Mr. Warren before we go back into proceedings.

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, I don’t have a dog in the second fight, which is whether, who gets access to Rate 125, but I’d certainly, like Mr. Thompson, understood that today’s argument was only about the issue about whether costs were allocated to, let’s put it crudely, the large industrial consumers or whether it was allocated as well as to the general service and residential customers.  I thought it was a narrow and specific fight on that issue only.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stevens, the material you filed, as Mr. Thompson says, is that a new proposal?
     MR. STEVENS:  Yes, sir, what we’ve done is we’ve given it an alternate proposal that might be addressed in terms of how the impact on Rate 115 would be smoothed.

      If I could just respond to several of the things my friend Mr. Thompson raised, please.

     MR. KAISER:  Sure.  Go ahead.

     MR. STEVENS:  The first thing I wanted to respond to was this idea that the rates would be dealt with and adjusted and set after these customer meetings in October.

      My understanding of the Board’s direction in this case is that it’s been very clear that rates will be set in this case.  And that certainly is all the more true for Rate 300, given the Board’s decision in our rate cases last year, which directed us to file rates and have them approved in this proceeding.

     The second thing:  Mr. Thompson – I don’t take issue at all with his understanding of what was going to be discussed today.  But I think it’s important to point out that he sent a letter at the end of last week, on July 7th, which is in the brief that we’ll circulate, asking a number of questions that he said were important for his understanding today.  Certainly those questions led me and led us to believe that everything would be argued today.

     For example, he asked, well, what allocation approach would EGD recommend if distribution rate increases for Rate 115 were capped at a maximum of 8 percent a year.  I don’t see that as having anything to do with the fight between  large and small customers.  And there are similar sorts of questions in his letter.  

Finally, I don’t know if anybody has appeared today as a result of the notice that Enbridge sent out to the Rate 115 customers, but to the extent that we have given notice, in my submission, we’d probably have to give notice again if the broader impact on those customers is to be dealt with again at a later date.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, let’s deal with the notice issue as a separate matter.

     In any event, whether the big guys bear it or the little guys bear it, everybody here agrees we’re here to discuss and argue that.  There’s no dispute on that.  And I guess there’s some new evidence, if I can call it that, which you have in your proposal, which incidentally, we haven’t reviewed either.

     Mr. Thompson, let’s suppose you’re right and that argument with respect to that goes to day 13.  Do you have any problem with these people explaining their new position today?

     MR. THOMPSON:  No.

     MR. KAISER:  So we could at least move it along to that degree.  Would that be satisfactory?  You don’t care whether we argue this today or on day 13?

     MR. STEVENS:  We’re in your hands, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  So why don’t we proceed as we had – oh, I’m sorry, Mr. Brown.

     MR. BROWN:  No problem.  Mr. Thompson did allude to the fact that I had an issue I wanted to raise.  It is related to the threshold in such as the threshold is an obstacle to something happening.  But let me explain it to you, and I’m prepared to deal with it by way of argument at the end of all of this.  Earlier this week the Board released its decision in the Enbridge application to construct the Goreway leave-to-construct.  The Board granted leave-to-construct to Enbridge, but indicated that there had to be a contract between Enbridge and Sithe that conformed to the Rate 125 tariff.  

As I read the Board’s decision, it declined to determine whether the existing contract between Sithe and Enbridge conformed with that tariff.

     The reality is that whatever ambiguity may surround the tariff with respect to the billing contract demand is removed by the settlement provision in the Enbridge settlement with respect to Rate 125.

     My client has no quarrel or no desire to get in between Mr. Thompson and Mr. Warren, but as I understand the Board’s decision, a green light, an absolute green light, has not yet been flashed to start construction on the Goreway pipeline, and that construction is to commence early July of 2006.  So what I’d like to do today is propose to you some options so that pipeline can get going, but it’s without prejudice to the rights of other people to argue the issues they have before you.

     MR. KAISER:  That’s fine.  We can hear you on that.  How do you want to proceed, Mr. Thompson?  Who goes first?  Or do you go first?

     MR. STEVENS:  If I may, sir, we do have a little bit of examination in-chief to try to set the context for this, and also, I think, perhaps be helpful in terms of the proposal we’ve discussed.

     MR. KAISER:  Have these witnesses been sworn?

     MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Kacicnik has not been sworn.

     ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION – PANEL 1:
     Anton Kacicnik; Sworn.
     Malini Ghiridar; Previously sworn.
     Jody Sarnovsky; Previously sworn.

EXAMINATION BY MR. STEVENS:
     MR. STEVENS:  Just to introduce the witness panel.  Nearest the door is Anton Kacicnik.  Anton is the manager cost allocation.  In the middle is Malini Ghiridar.  Malini is the manager of rate research and design.  And the third member of the witness panel is Jody Sarnovsky, manager of strategic and key accounts.
      We propose to go through some fairly brief examination in-chief, just to talk to the issues of the allocations of cost and revenue deficiencies arising from the changes to Rates 125 through 300 and 315 that were generally agreed to in settlement proposal, and also to address the company’s updated alternate proposal to address the forecast revenue deficiency as a result of migration between the rate classes.

     We’ll be referencing a few documents during the examination in-chief, and for everybody’s assistance we prepared something we’re calling a brief of documents for cost allocation issue.  And I’ve given copies of it to Board Counsel.  I’m not sure if the Panel has it or not.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, it should be on the front table. Would you like to have it marked as an exhibit?

     MR. STEVENS:  Yes, please.


MS. SEBALJ:   It’s S1.4.

     MR. STEVENS:  If I’m not mistaken, I think there already is an S1.4.  I think there are two e-mails that are 1.4 and 1.5.

     MS. SEBALJ:  It’s entirely possible that my list is not up to date, or – oh, no, that I didn’t flip the page.  S1.6.  My apologies.

     EXHIBIT NO. S1.6:  ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION BRIEF 
OF DOCUMENTS

     MR. STEVENS:  Ms. Giridhar, the turning to the settlement proposal, which is at tab 3 of the brief, can you please briefly describe the agreement as to when and to whom the re-designed Rate 125 will be available.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  At page 11 of tab 3 of our brief, the settlement proposal states that Rate 125 will be available at the earlier of two dates.  One is the approval or implementation of our 2007 rates, or 12 months after the approval of the settlement agreement.  In terms of who it would be available to, all parties agree that the minimum requirement would be 600,000 cubic metres of demand per year.

     However, IGUA, AMPCO, and CME, have a further condition that it should only be applicable to new customers.

      I should also note that Rate 125 has a feature specific to dedicated service customers, the billing contract demand Mr. Brown talked about, and there is an agreement that that would apply only to new customers.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And can you describe please when and to whom the re-designed rates 300 and 315 will be available?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  On page 29 the settlement proposal states that customers can elect to take Rate 300 on one of two dates, either January 1, 2007, or April 1, 2007.  And the choice with respect to those two dates has to do with the fact that unbundled customers will be taking an allocation of storage.  And the April 1 date happens to coincide with when storage space is nearly empty, so that would give them the ability to fill up that storage and give them more storage.  So in any event, that choice is open to customers as to when they want to take service.

      The company would certainly facilitate either of those two dates.

      In terms of who would take service, there is no minimum requirement for Rate 300.  It is (inaudible) that that large-volume customers would find this at attractive.  There is, however, a restriction in that in the year 2007, there would only be 20 customers who will take service on Rate 300.

     MR. STEVENS:  Why is it that Rate 300 is limited to 20 customers in the first instance?
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The settlement proposal contemplates a manual implementation of unbundled rates in 2007.  The manual implementation would limit our ability to offer this rate to 20 customers.

     MR. STEVENS:  And when does the customer foresee being able to offer Rate 300 to all interested customers?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Based on the settlement proposal again, the company has undertaken to inform six months after takeup of Rate 300 as to an estimated date as to when an automated solution may be required.  In the meantime, every three months the company would also report on the takeup of Rate 300 to enable a decision to be made.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And what’s been agreed to in terms of the impact on the company in terms of offering these new or re-designed rates?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Again, at several places in the settlement agreement, there is agreement that the company should be held whole from a revenue and cost perspective with respect to the offering of new rates and services.  There are two specific types of costs for which a mechanism is contemplated for holding the company whole.

      The first has to do with implementation costs.  And at page 32, there is description of a deferral account, an implementation deferral account, and the mechanics of how that would obtain.

      There is also an allowance for the fact that migration of customers would cause a revenue shortfall for the company, and there is a mechanism in place for that as well.  It’s on page 33 of the settlement agreement, and that as well contemplates a variance account for dealing with revenue shortfalls arising from migration.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Ms. Sarnovsky, the settlement proposal speaks about the implementation costs that the company will incur to offer the re-designed rates.  And there’s further discussion of that in the exchange of letters with Mr. Thompson found at tab 4 of the brief we’ve just circulated.  Can you please briefly describe what these implementation costs are that will be incurred to allow the re-designed rates to be offered on a limited basis next year?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes, I can.  Essentially, the implementation costs can be broken down into two components.  One is start-up costs, essentially meaning one-time costs to define all of the processes and tracking mechanisms to monitor compliance with the new unbundled rates and services.

      There are other costs included in start-up costs, such as changes to EnTRAC.  So that’s our automated system that processes bundled rates and services.  However, certain modifications have to be made to ensure that unbundled customers doesn’t flow into this system, which isn’t designed to handle unbundled customers, changes to the meter reading system to facilitate hourly meter reads for customers on these rates, as well as costs associated with legal for setting up new unbundled agreements, communication and training costs.  The range of those costs is between $600,000 and $875,000, if you look at a low case and a high case.  But in addition to those costs there are ongoing costs which represent annual costs to process the services under these rates.

     The bulk of the costs relate to the administrative and staffing costs, which is contained in the settlement proposal, but in addition to that, and that’s – sorry, just for your benefit, it’s related to managing the nomination process and the increased nomination windows, but in addition to that there are some ongoing costs relating to the billing process, in terms of creating manual bills, manual payment processing of these invoices, and the collections process on these invoices.  Those range of costs are in the 300 to 825,000 range.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And how will these costs be tracked and collected?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  As Ms. Giridhar has indicated, pursuant to the settlement proposal, there is a deferral  account that has been proposed to record the actual implementation costs associated with these new rates and services, and that would be the 2006 unbundled rate implementation cost deferral account found on page 32 of the settlement proposal.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thanks.  Ms. Giridhar, can you please describe the company’s proposal for the allocation and recovery of these implementation costs?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly.  At tab 2, I believe, we have several undertakings reproduced.  And undertaking 27 talks about the company’s proposal for allocation and recovery of implementation costs.

      The company’s proposing that these costs be recovered from all large-volume customers and the allocation factor be customer numbers, which means that every large volume customer would pay the same charge.  And that would be arrived at by dividing the total amount to be recovered by the amount of large-volume customers.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Mr. Kacicnik, can you please describe why the company has forecast that it will incur revenue deficiencies as a result of customers migrating to Rate 125 or Rate 300?
     MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, certainly.  In a nutshell, customers migrate to a new rate because they benefit by paying a lower bill on the new rate.  If nothing else changes, given they are now paying lower bills, the company will not recover its revenue requirement, and the shortfall will equal the distribution saving to the customer.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And how did the company initially propose to recover the migration revenue deficiencies?

     MR. KACICNIK:  The company initially proposed to recover revenue deficiency based on migration cost allocation impacts to affected rate classes.  That would be Rate 100, 110, and 115.

      If I explain that a bit further, is customer migration transfers cost and volumes from the old rate class to the new rate class, based on individual customer cost characteristics.

      If the migrating customer was cheaper to serve than the class average, when that customer moves, what’s left behind is the higher average unit cost for the remaining customer in the rate class.

      If I can illustrate that using a simple example.  Let’s assume we have a fictitious rate class that has only two customers.  Customer A costs $25 to serve, and customer B costs $75 to serve. The average cost for that rate class is $50.  If customer A now migrates to a new rate, what’s going to be left in the old rate class is $75, which we need to recover from customer B.  And that results to a higher unit rate for customer B, meaning higher rates.

      Having said that, looking at the issue from cost allocation perspective only, it is appropriate that the remaining customer in the rate class pays the higher unit rate, because that customer was effectively subsidized by the customer A, which brought the average cost down to $50.

      So that was the company’s initial proposal, based on cost allocation impacts only, but as we mentioned, we have a new proposal now, which we’ll discuss a bit later.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  If I can get you to turn up the exchange of letters behind tab 4 of the brief that we’ve circulated, which is S1.6, and turn up the second page of the letter dated July 13, 2006, addressed to Mr. Thompson from me.

      I understand from this response, which is number C, that the estimated rate impact on the distribution charge for Rate 115 would be 38 percent if the largest customer were to move away from that rate.  Can you please explain why that number’s no longer 60 percent as set out in the settlement proposal, and also indicate what would be the total bill impact for a Rate 115 customer of the distribution rate portion increasing by 38 percent?

     MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  The 60 percent impact on distribution charge was based on the assumptions that customers with the largest benefit would migrate away from Rate 115.

      This resulted in the 60 percent impact on the distribution rate.  If we look at the total bill, it would be 14 percent, excluding commodity, and about 2 percent including commodity.

     The company has since adopted an approach that attempts to mimic the settlement agreement, where we migrate 10 customers with the largest benefit, and the next 10 would be selected by lottery.

      So that approach yields the distribution impact of 38 percent and 7 percent on the total bill basis, excluding commodity, and less than 1 percent including commodity costs.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Now, Ms. Giridhar, in terms of this migration impact on Rate 115 and other rate classes – we’ve already begun discussing today the fact that the company has circulated an alternative proposal for the allocation of this forecast revenue deficiency.  Can you describe what that proposal is?  I believe it’s at tab 5 of the brief.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly.  To just briefly recap what Mr. Kacicnik said, the migration of customers to the new rates and services will inevitably have consequences for the remaining customers in the rate class.  From a cost allocation perspective, it is appropriate that the remaining customers pay the higher average cost resulting from the migration.

     However, from a pricing perspective, we would always be cognizant of rate impacts on customers.

     Now, as Mr. Kacicnik has described, the rate impact of 38 percent on the distribution portion of the bill translates to a much smaller impact when you look at the impact on the bill and total.  So on a burner tip basis, you’re looking at less than 2 – less than 1 percent, and on the basis of just the bill excluding the commodity, which would be the case if the customer has their own gas (inaudible) arrangements, you’re looking at approximately 70 percent.

      So if this was viewed as an impact that needs to be mitigated, the company has a proposal to smooth this out.

      What the company is proposing is that as an alternative, we could limit the distribution increase to 15 percent.  In terms of our migration assumptions, that means that we would assume that the largest customer on Rate 115 moves, but instead of the next few customers being the largest customers of 115, you would take smaller customers from Rate 115, and assume they moved out of the rate class.  So this assumption would allow you to make a 15 percent distribution impact on the remaining customers in Rate 115.   
      What that would mean, however, in terms of our proposal, that difference between 38 percent and 15 percent needs to be borne by other customers and what we are proposing is that those costs be borne by customers in Rates 100 and Rate 110, on the basis that they are also customers that benefit from the availability of the choice in terms of having unbundled rates and services.

      The impacts from the original proposal are that, if we have a 38 percent impact on Rate 115, you have a 2 percent on Rate 100 and a 1 percent impact on Rate 110, from a purely distribution perspective.

     The proposal to smooth the impact on Rate 115 down to 15 percent would result in a 1 percentage point increase for both Rate 100 and 110, which means that Rate 100 would have an impact of 3 percent on their distribution bill, and Rate 110 would have an impact of 2 percent on the distribution portion of their bill.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Now, finally, paragraph 1.1R of the settlement proposal – and I realize we’re not necessarily dealing with this issue today, but I think it might be helpful just to get the evidence out – IGUA, AMPCO, and CME indicate they’re reserving their right to request that Rate 125 be limited to new loads only.

      Can you please describe the basis on which Rate 125 was originally approved by the Board?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly.  Rate 125 was approved in the company’s fiscal 2000 rates case.  And in that case the basis on which Rate 125 was approved was the following, that Rate 125 would have a minimum threshold of 600,000 cubic meters contract demand.  Rate 125 would be based on a fully allocated costing approach approved by the Board, but would take a subset of the cost to serve all of our customers, based on the fact that the largest customers on our system don’t need the distribution system to get gas to their facilities – they only need the extra-high pressure system – so it was a subset of our total distribution system that would be costed.  This would obviously result in a lower rate for Rate 125.  But it would only be as a result of identifying the individual cost characteristics of these customers.  Therefore it would be in keeping with our cost allocation principles.

      In the proposal and in evidence, it was also pointed out that there was one existing customer that could migrate to Rate 125.  And it is the migration of the same customer that we are contemplating today.

      So, when Rate 125 was approved in the year 2000, there was no distinction between the existing customer that might migrate and any new loads that might come on to Rate 125.  Both would qualify for the rate.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

     And finally, can you please describe how the impact on Rate 115 customers arising from migration to the re-designed rates will differ, depending on whether or not Rate 125 is limited to new loads only?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  As Mr. Kacicnik pointed out, when customers migrate from an existing rate, you have to migrate the costs and the volumes associated with that customer out of that rate class, and that is what results in the rate impact on the remaining customers in the rate class.

      So the migration of a customer will lead to impacts on the remaining customer in the rate class; it does not matter which rate class the customer goes to.

      So, in this instance, the departure of the largest customer from Rate 115, whether it is to Rate 300 or Rate 125, would have exactly the same impacts on the remaining customers in Rate 115.

     What is different is that because Rate 125 is based on the cost characteristics of customers taking gas off our extra-high pressure system this customer would end up paying a lower rate on Rate 125.

      If this customer moved to Rate 300, they would spread the cost benefits that they bring among the wider group of customers, but it would be restricted to customers within Rate 300.

      So, in other words, Rate 115 is impacted the exact same way if that migration happened, but there will be consequences for Rate 125 and Rate 300 from adding that customer to that rate class.

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Just before we finish, panel, I just have one housekeeping matter, and that is – that I forgot to mention before.  There is a loose letter that should be in your brief and was left out with the briefs at the back of the room, dated July 13, 2006, from me to Mr. Thompson.  I would ask that that be considered as being included behind tab 4 of this brief, so that there are two letters dated July 13, 2006, from David Stevens to Peter Thompson behind that tab.  And with that the examination in-chief is complete.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Mr. Thompson?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  It’s sort of awkward.

     MR. KAISER:  Why don’t you see if you can –
     MR. THOMPSON:  Slide over there?

     MR. KAISER:  Come over in the corner here, Mr. Thompson.  Or even right at the end.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairperson.

     Panel, what brought us here today was an issue as to whether the small customers should be exposed to any of these migration deficiencies and implementation costs.  Right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I didn’t hear a ward of that in your evidence.  What is the company’s proposal? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, could you just repeat that?

     MR. THOMPSON:  What’s the company’s proposal as to who should bear responsibility for the implementation costs and migration deficiencies?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe that was addressed.  We said that the implementation costs should be borne by our large-volume customers, and the migration deficiencies, from cost allocation perspective, should be borne by the remaining members of the rate class from which the migration occurs, and that also happens to be large-volume customers.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And let’s just talk about implementation costs.

      Your initial forecast for implementation costs in your evidence was $4 million and some change; is that right?  That’s capital costs.
     MS. SARNOVSKY:  That’s for an automated solution.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And then there were some operating costs associated with those dollars?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  That’s correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what were they?

     MR. KAISER:  400,000.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  For an automated solution, if you can refer to Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 3, attachment 3, which is behind tab 1 of the Enbridge brief, the systems-related costs, which were the capital costs we were referring to, were between 2.3 and $4 million.  Those were for changes in EnTRAC only.  And the ongoing support cost were between 300,000 and 500,000 dollars.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And that was to accommodate, am I correct, the possible migration of some 1,100 customers?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  That was to accommodate however many customers chose to go for unbundled rates, and I believe the evidence was it would be economic for up to 1,100 customers to go that route.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And is it fair to say there was concern about incurring that level of costs before we knew how many would actually migrate?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Absolutely.  There’s a risk of uncertainty as to how many customers will migrate.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And who came forward with the proposal to limit the application of Rate 300 to up to 20 customers?

     MR. STEVENS:  If I may interrupt here.  I don’t have any particular problem with answering the question, but it seems to me we’re immediately getting into who said what at the settlement conference, who proposed what, who agreed to it, whose idea was it, and in my submission, that’s not appropriate at all.  The settlement speaks for itself in terms of what all parties agreed to, and I think we should go from there as the factual basis on which we decide whatever needs to be decided today, rather than revisiting who said what when through the settlement process.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if he doesn’t have any problem with the question, maybe I can put it this way.

     Did Enbridge advance the proposal?

     MR. STEVENS:  Again, I guess what I was saying is that the answer itself isn’t particularly damaging but the idea of getting into those discussions seems completely inappropriate to me.

     MR. KAISER:  Do you need this information, Mr. Thompson?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Probably not.  Let’s try it this way.  In terms of the implementation costs of the manual solution, would you agree, the first estimate we received of that is when this letter was sent out, I guess it was last night.  Is that right?
     MR. KAISER:  Is this the July 13th letter?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  You’re telling us it’s going to cost $800,000, between 6 and $800,000 to implement a manual solution for up to 20 customers.  That’s $40,000 a customer.  That’s a lot of pencils.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  If I could refer you to the same exhibit behind tab 1 of the Enbridge brief, but attachment 2, there is an effort and cost summary that was filed in our pre-filed evidence.  And what that shows is between 2 and $300 in startup costs, with the caveat that explains that legal costs, training costs, and communication costs are not included in this estimate, in addition to ongoing cost of 250,000 to 325,000 in further technical conferences.  And on the first day of this hearing we referred to some costs that were incorporated into the settlement proposal, ongoing costs off 250,000 to $750,000, and Mr. Charleson explained that those were primarily due to the nomination, handling of the ’96 nomination windows and the staffing costs associated with that.

     So no, this is not the first time these costs have been presented.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, I thought these were the implementation costs associated with the manual solution?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Absolutely.  Those are.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what you had in your evidence were the implementation costs associated with an automated solution for up to 1,100 people migrating.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  No, sir.  We had two cost estimates as part of our pre-filed evidence.  If you refer to the NGEIR impact assessment, which is part of the attachments that I’m referring you to, it details what needs to be done for both an automated solution and everything that needs to be done for a manual solution.  There are attachments to the end of it, and one that outlines the costs for an automated solution and one that outlines the costs for a manual solution.

     MR. THOMPSON:  In this pre-filed evidence?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Where do I find the manual?  Why weren’t we told this before?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  I certainly referred to them in previous technical conferences.

     MR. RUPERT:  Could you just give me the page reference again?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes, if you’ve got the brief, the Enbridge brief?

     MR. RUPERT:  Yes, I do.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  It’s behind tab 1.  It’s the first exhibit that’s filed, so B3, tab 3, schedule 3.  But it’s the attachments to that exhibit.  So attachment 1 itself is the NGEIR impact analysis.

     MR. RUPERT:  Yes.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  And it’s a 14 or 15-page document, perhaps.  No, 17 pages.

     And that, essentially, goes through all the changes that would need to be made for an automated solution to this.  And it also, at pages 11 to 13 of that, outlines everything that needs to be done to implement a manual solution.

      Then the further attachments, attachment 2, is an EGD manual effort and cost summary, which outlines the costs that I’ve gone into again, with the caveat that this was a high-level estimate and it clearly states in here that certain costs like training, communication, and legal, had not been incorporated into this estimate.  And that was strictly due to timing of when the evidence was required.

      And then the next attachment, which is attachment 3, shows the effort and cost summary for an automated solution.

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  And just to be clear on the numbers.   That page for the manual effort and cost shows an ongoing – which was prepared back in March, I guess, shows an ongoing cost, high/low range of 250 to 325.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  That’s correct.

     MR. RUPERT:  And the letter that was sent yesterday from Mr. Stevens to Mr. Thompson shows – am I seeing the equivalent or the comparable numbers in there would be the 300 to 825?
     MS. SARNOVSKY:  That’s correct.

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  And as I believe I indicated, the 250 to 750 range was part of the settlement proposal, and is primarily due to the nomination windows, and in addition to that there were some ongoing billing-related costs.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Ms. Sarnovsky, I put it to you that this proposal for the limited implementation of the unbundling to 20 customers was represented to parties to have nominal implementation costs.  That’s why it was accepted.  We were trying to avoid the $4 million.  And you’re telling me it’s going to cost the same per customer, whether we implement it for 20 or 1,100.  Is that what you’re telling us?

     MR. STEVENS:  As to the first part of what Mr. Thompson’s speaking about, again, he’s speaking about representations and discussions at the settlement conference, and I think that’s inappropriate, as to the second part.  That’s a fair question.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that what we were told, sir?  Is that what we were told.

     MR. STEVENS:  I have no recollection of that, but again, I don’t think it’s appropriate to be talking about what happened through the settlement process, Mr. Thompson.

     MR. KAISER:  Were these costs talked about in the settlement costs.

     MR. STEVENS:  There were certainly costs in terms of startup and ongoing operations discussed at the Technical Conference.

     MR. KAISER:  So what’s being proposed by you now, is that different than was told to the parties in the Technical Conference?

     MR. STEVENS:  Certainly the –
     MR. KAISER:  With respect to these manual costs?

     MR. STEVENS:  Certainly the amounts that are related to the nomination windows are.  That’s a new component that developed as a result of the settlement agreement, in terms of costs of administering additional nomination windows.

      In terms of the other costs, no.  I believe that those types of costs were discussed and were in mind at the time of the settlement conference.

      In the company’s initial filing, it was made clear that the minimum time to implement an automated solution is 43 weeks.  There was no way to offer these rates immediately, in any event.

      And so it was discussed how, on a manual basis, it could be offered to fewer people before that.  But it was never contemplated that the automated solution could be put in and operational immediately.  And the company’s mindful of the direction from the Board in the last rate case that these rates be made available as soon as possible and that customers be able to switch over to them before their own contracts are up, if they wish.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, leaving aside whether it’s 43 weeks or what it is, Mr. Thompson seems to be suggesting that he agreed to something in the settlement that was based on information that’s different than the information that you’re filing today.  Is that the case or not?

     MR. STEVENS:  That’s certainly not my perception.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, at the Technical Conference, Ms. Sarnovsky, we weren’t discussing the proposition that the solution would be limited to 20 people.

      Throughout the evidence, you were talking about a migration of up to 1,100 people.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  My recollection of what we discussed at the Technical Conference when we looked at the manual costs was that we could only accommodate up to 10 customers in a manual forum.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But we were never told it was going to cost $40 to 50,000 a customer for a manual solution.  The representation was it would be nominal.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Well, if I can just quickly to the math here with the evidence that’s been filed and using the assumptions you’re using, we had estimated 2 to $300,000 in costs plus these legal training/communication costs, on 10 customers.  So that’s 20 to 30,000. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, you’re talking about what, the 300?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Mm-hm.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Ongoing annual?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  No, I’m strictly talking about the set-up costs for the manual solution.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Set-up costs, the 875 for up to 20 customers.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  That’s 30 to $40,000 startup for a manual solution, and then 300 to 825 ongoing annual, for an annual solution.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  That’s correct.  And I was referring back to the original evidence, which you said did not represent the same level of costs.  If you look at the initial evidence, the range was 2 to 300,000 for the subset of costs we proposed here, but for only up to ten customers, so that gets you on the same range on a per-customer basis, if you want to go to that analysis that we now have with up to 20 customers.

     MR. THOMPSON:  We were trying to accommodate a move to this rate – let’s just look at tab 4 of the IGUA brief, J7.3.  This is the undertaking response which you provided as a result of questions we asked during the Technical Conference.  We didn’t have any information on migration impacts on a per-customer basis, but we asked this, and we got this response number 30.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Just to be clear, Mr. Thompson, are you referring to the NGEIR brief re EGD Rate 300 series?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Exhibit J7.3, tab 4.

     If you go to page 1 of 2 of the attachments, we see your forecast, as I understand it, of the distribution savings that will be achieved if people migrate.  And this is the full – I think it’s the 1,100 customers.  Am I right, Ms. Giridhar?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And we look at customer 1, that’s on the assumption that customer goes to Rate 125, the existing customer.  That’s $1 million, roughly, of distribution rate savings?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And if that existing customer doesn’t go to Rate 125, that number becomes about $95,000; am I right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then we go to the others, number 2, really, up to number – well, we take the top, the top 19, if you will, of those customers, the savings you’re forecasting start with number 2 at 61,000, and at 20 it’s $20,000.  Right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  But maybe I should clarify something.  When we’ve talked about the cost per customer for implementation, and used numbers such as 30,000 and 40,000, the company’s proposal is to recover the costs of implementation over all large-volume customers, not just the ones exercising their choice to go to unbundled rates.

      So from that perspective, I’m not quite sure where you’re headed, Mr. Thompson, but if you’re suggesting that the saving per customer is –
     MR. THOMPSON:  I’m heading towards outrage is where I’m heading.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, the point I would like to make is, in all instances where you’re contemplating new rates and services, obviously if the costs are recovered solely from the ones that are going to take the service, it might inhibit them exercising the choice in the first place.  And you’ve had instances in the past where the Board has approved the allocation of costs based on the availability of choice as opposed to the exercise of choice.

      And in our proposal we’re suggesting that these costs be recovered over all large-volume customers.  In our original proposal, a $4 million implementation cost, which would be a capital cost, of course, and there’s some ongoing O&M costs, would have resulted in a $50 per month increase in customer charge.

      We’re now looking at a manual implement and we are proposing the same allocation methodology, so these would be spread over 2,700 customers.  You’re looking at something in the neighbourhood of 25 to $30 dollars a month per customer.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, thank you for that.  But in terms of the cost benefit of all of this, and the proposal to limit it to 20 customers – in other words, sort of a pilot – let’s take one step before we go too far on this; you’re now telling us in this letter there is 800,000 of startup 
· 6 to 800 of startup, 300 to 825 of ongoing implementation costs for just up to 20.  And I look at the benefits here, and we get to the 20th customer, it’s less than $20,000.  Just from a cost benefit perspective, does it make sense for anybody to migrate?
MS. GIRIDHAR:  There’s several aspects to the decision to migrate, and I think I touched upon this when we were before the Board on the 19th of June.  What we’ve shown in Undertaking No. 30 is the distribution benefit to customers from migrating.  And I think we made it very clear that a customer’s ultimate decision to move to unbundled rates would also be a function of how effectively they can manage their gas supply costs, because that’s where they may have a much larger upside.

     For example, if they saved 1 percent of what could be a million dollar gas supply cost, that would be a significant savings for them.

     So the overall decision to migrate is based on much more than what we have shown in our Undertaking No. 30 and also in our proposal, in terms of implementation costs and how they should be recovered.  As I’ve mentioned before, the company’s proposal is to recover these implementation costs over all customers who have the choice to migrate, as opposed to those who exercise the choice to migrate.

     So I don’t really see that as being a factor in terms of saying should this have been undertaken at all.  And in fact, if I may remind you, Mr. Thompson, the company’s proposal to develop unbundled rates and services was not of the company’s own doing.  We were asked to do this, first by customers.  It was the I of several parties, including IGUA, if I recall right, in the 2006 case, that we should be developing rates for unbundled service.  The Board directed us to do this, and that’s why we’re here with an unbundled rates and service proposal.

    Obviously, then, to develop this proposal, you need changes in your services and your systems.  And what you’ve identified here are costs, and you’ve also identified, in my view, a risk-mitigating way of moving to an automated solution by saying, let’s have a manual solution first until we iron out all business rules and all the other things that are unknown at this point, including take-up.

     So we believe you’ve come forward with something that’s very prudent, that’s phased, and takes into account the risks of implementation, the risks of cost overruns in terms of moving us towards an automated solution.

     MR. THOMPSON:  When you move to an automatic system, do you throw out the manual system?  Or is there some utility when you invest this money in the manual system, could you use some part of that when you migrate to an automatic system?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Obviously, it would be our intent with the business rules that we’ll be coding into spreadsheets and what-not, to use as much of that as we can into the logic of an automated solution.  But the fact of the matter is, when we’re talking manual solution, we are specifically talking spreadsheets.  
     So, not being a technical person, I don’t know how much of that is easily transferred to an automated solution.  But certainly the business rules would all be ironed out and should facilitate the coding.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I may also mention one more point.  In that estimate are the costs of training, communication, and so on and so forth, which were identified in the evidence but never actually quantified.  
     Well, the settlement agreement requires us to do several things before October 15 so customers can actually make informed decisions on whether they want to go to unbundled rates, and part of that is a communications package, customer meetings, and I believe the start-up costs incorporates an estimate of some of those costs as well.  
     So I don’t know whether what’s shown as a manual start-up cost is roughly comparable to the automated solution in and of itself.  There are certain other elements that we have in here.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you value your relationships with your large volume customers, Ms. Sarnovsky?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Absolutely.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what are you asking the Board to do today, jack up the Rate 115 by 38 percent?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  What we are informing the Board is that the decision to implement and offer unbundled rates and services has consequences for customers when certain customers take up that choice.

     And what we’re identifying for the Board is that, if we allocate costs, based on approved cost allocation principles, and reflect that impact on the remaining customers in Rate 115, you could have up to a 38 percent impact on distribution rates as a result of the 20 customers migrating to unbundled rates.  In terms of bill impacts, it is not 38 percent; it’s something less than that.  

     I believe we’ve laid out that these are all consequences of offering unbundled rates and services.  And again, if I might reiterate, the decision to offer these services was not something that the company undertook by itself.  There were directives and there were requests from customers to have these services available.

     MR. THOMPSON:  You didn’t answer my question.

     What are you asking the Board to do, jack up the Rate 115 by 38 percent?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  We’ve put forward a proposal –
     MR. THOMPSON:  Just answer the question.  Is it – you want it raised today by 38 percent?  By 15 percent?  By zero percent?  What is the proposal?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The company’s proposal is that as a result of the forecast migration to unbundled rates and services there would be an impact on the level of Rate 115, on the distribution portion of the bill.  The proposal we laid out had a 15 percent impact on the distribution rate.  I should mention that that 15 percent impact in terms of cents per cubic meter works out to 0.1 cent per cubic meter.

     If I might put that in perspective, typically, in our QRAMs, which occur every quarter, we have gas price volatility of up to 2 cents per cubic metre.  So what you’re seeing as a 38 percent impact, or a 15 percent impact with the distribution portion of the bill, well, the distribution portion of the bill is 2 percent of a customer’s burner tip costs, including the cost of the commodity.  And if I might just lay that out.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it’s 15 percent.  That’s your proposal?
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The proposal is 15 percent.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Now, Ms. Sarnovsky, have you talked to any of your Rate 115 customers and told them you’re coming here today asking for a rate increase of 15 percent on their distribution proposal?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  All of our Rate 115 customers were served notice outlining, at that time, the impacts on their rates.  I have personally spoken with one customer to explain the cost impact, and I know my account executives and managers have spoken probably to about 10 or 12 customers and explained the impact.
     Generally, the reaction is that, once it’s explained to them in the context, they felt it was somewhat insignificant.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I won’t give you my information on that, but you’ve spoken to one.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes, I have, one of your members.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And have you told them when you’re talking about this 15 percent increase?  This 15 percent increase just surfaced late yesterday.  How could you discuss it with them, unless you were on the phone last night? 

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  The discussion that I had was based on the 60 percent increase that was in the initial notice that went out to Rate 115 customers.  And there were discussions as of late yesterday with this customer.

     MR. THOMPSON:  If nobody migrates, there’s no impact; right?  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  If nobody migrates, the migration deferral account would capture revenue consequences.  So, in other words, if nobody migrates, the company would over-collect its revenue requirement in 2007.  Those amounts would be captured in the deferral account and returned back in the same proportion to which rates were raised on the assumption of migration.

     Therefore, both the company and customers are held whole through this process.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  If nobody migrates, there’s no impact on the rates.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The rate –
     MR. THOMPSON:  Let me put it to you this way.  If we don’t change the rates, the deferral account protects the company in case somebody migrates or nobody migrates.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct, it protects both customers and the company, in both directions.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so if we assume nobody migrates, as opposed to the assumption you’ve made, you’re still protected in the event somebody does migrate?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  It would be inconsistent with the manner in which the settlement proposal envisages that would happen, in that you would factor the migration of 20 customers into your cost study, and then have the deferral account take care of that difference.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  It’s inconsistent with the settlement proposal?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, the settlement proposal contemplates that the 2007 rates case would incorporate the level of migration of 20 customers.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But the settlement proposal contemplates that there’s going to be a meeting with customers in September.  And you’re going lay out to them the implications on a customer-specific basis, if they stay on it’s this, if they go off it’s that.  They can make an informed decision as to migration, before the end of the year; right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  That’s the idea.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then, when you come in with your 2007 rates, we’ll have some vision of what’s likely to happen before the rates actually become effective.  So what is the problem with just sticking with an assumption nobody migrates?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I think the issue here is trying to figure out how the consequences of migration should be allocated between rate classes.  And with due respect, if you make the assumption that nobody migrates and then customers migrate, you still have to deal with the allocation impacts of that migration.

     So I think the issue of resolving how that allocation should occur has been identified for something that should be dealt with in this proceeding.  And making the assumption one way or the other does not really matter, because if it happens, we need to have a mechanism to deal with it.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let’s come back to what really brought us here.  The migration deficiencies, if nobody migrates, are zero; correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so, if that – and just looking at Union’s case, nobody migrated to unbundled rates.
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s what I understand.

     MR. THOMPSON:  They have had unbundled rates for years and nobody’s actually migrated; right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That was my understanding.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so, if we have no migration, it’s zero.  If one goes, it’s a small amount, in terms of the migration impact.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, if the largest customer on Rate 115 leaves, it would be a 12 percent impact on the distribution rate.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I’m sorry.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  If the one largest customer on Rate 115 migrated out of Rate 115, there would be a 12 percent impact on the distribution rate, on 115.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, well, it would be $90,000, if they went – if that customer went to Rate 300, you’ve told me in the letter that you wrote me that that would be a $90,000 impact on revenue deficiency.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, but that would not be the impact on rates for Rate 115.

     What we had identified, and it is – the $90,000 represents the difference between what the customer would pay on Rate 300, versus what the customer would pay on Rate 115.  But when you factor in the migration of that customer, what you have to reflect in your cost study is what cost does that customer have attached to them, and what costs and volumes migrate from Rate 115 to Rate 300.

     And as it happens, because this largest customer takes service off our extra high-pressure main, and not the distribution system, they would take away far fewer costs than any other customer would.

     All this just to say that they are, in fact, leaving behind $1 million worth of costs in Rate 115, and spreading approximately $900,000 worth of benefit to customers in Rate 300 by their migration.

     So the $90,000 is just the net impact.  In one case, the benefit of this customer is felt by everybody who remains in Rate 115.  In the other case, if they migrate, the benefit of that customer is spread over everybody in Rate 300.

     MR. THOMPSON:  The company would be out $90,000.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  What happens in terms of how that is distributed throughout the rate classes is a cost-allocation rate design topic.  You’re presenting it as though you rigidly adhere to some cost-based rate methodology.  And I suggest to you, in your rate cases, there’s judgment involved as to how that 90 gets distributed between the rate classes.  Isn’t that fair?
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.  The company uses its cost allocation study as a guide in terms of determining rates.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  In any event, the impact on the company is $90,000.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-hm.

     MR. THOMPSON:  If one migrates.

     In terms of the implementation costs, if no one migrates, will they be the $800,000 that we’re talking about, Ms. Sarnovsky?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  If no one migrates, the start-up costs would still be incurred.  Where you would see a difference is in the ongoing costs.  So the $300,000 to $825,000, the great portion of that would not be incurred.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So to start up a manual solution it all costs $800,000?  That’s what you’re telling us?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  $600,000 to $800,000.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that all legal?  That’s a joke.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  A good portion of it is.

     MR. THOMPSON:  You’re kidding.

     All right.  In terms of the drivers for the Rate 125 changes that you’re proposing and the Rate 300 changes, am I correct that one of the drivers is the “keep your rates robust against bypass”?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly the Board, in its decision on the GEC case, encouraged utilities to make their rates robust against bypass.

     There is one specific feature that is directed towards making our rates robust against bypass, and that is the billing contract demand feature in Rate 125.  But the other aspects of the unbundling of rates and services, the re-design of Rate 125 to offer load-balancing service, none of these have to do with bypass.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But to the extent that a driver is keeping the rates robust against bypass by existing customers, I’m speaking of, that is a benefit to the system as a whole?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And another driver is unbundling, generally.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct. 
     MR. THOMPSON:  And does unbundling, generally, is that perceived by the company to be a benefit to the system as a whole?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I’m inclined to say that unbundling will eventually create –it’s certainly to the benefit of customers who take up unbundling, because they can save costs.

     From the perspective of the system as a whole, unbundled customers would still continue to take distribution service.  To the extent that unbundled customers don’t wish to take some of the other services that the company offers, such as balancing or storage, there would be some loss of diversity.  So I’m not sure how to answer this question. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, maybe you can answer it this way.  When Union unbundled for the benefit of its small-volume customers, did the Board consider that to be, in part, a benefit to the system as a whole?  
     I think we attached a copy of the Board’s decision at tab 10 of our brief on that issue.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  My understanding is that the Board identified increased competition on the gas commodity market to be of benefit to all customers.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But the Board did allocate, in Union’s case, a portion of the costs associated with unbundling, implementation costs associated with unbundling, to everybody, and then the bulk of them to the class that was benefiting.  Is that your understanding?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is my understanding.  But if I might just point out a couple of differences that I believe should be mentioned.  My understanding is that Union did unbundle all of its rates, including small-volume rates.

     Our proposal is limited to large volume customers.  We do not see small-volume customers taking Rate 300.  So there is one distinction.

     I also believe that at the time that the Union line was being introduced, its functionality was somewhat similar to our EnTRAC system.  And the Board, in terms of the EnTRAC costs, ruled that they should be borne by everybody, but in that instance they were being used by the small-volume customers as well.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you for that.

     Now, in terms of the 2007 – I’m just trying to get my head around what you’re asking the Board to do here.  We’ve got 2006 rates.  They’re not going to be changed.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And you got a 2007 rate case coming.  And that will include forecast costs and expenses.  And those costs and expenses can be factored into the 2007 rates; right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so I guess I come back to, What’s the prejudice to the company to just leave the rates the way they are?   The Board can address whether small customers are exposed to any costs here as they’ve ruled, and we’ll deal with the rest of it in 2007?  There’s no prejudice to the company.  Would you agree?

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  My understanding is that the Board has asked us to consider this as part of this proceeding, and that’s why we’re here.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, so what are you expecting the Board to do today, just tell us what allocation factor to apply in the 2007 case?  Tell us to bump up Rate 115 rates?  What are you asking the Board to do today?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think what we’re looking for is direction, because the actual quantum of impacts would, in fact, be determined in the 2007 case.  And for instance, if we were to apply cost allocation principles, then we would be spreading the costs of migration back to remaining customers in the rate class.  So we’ve laid out what the impacts would be based on our 2007 costs – 2006 Board-approved costs.

     In the alternative, we have proposed that in the Board feels that those impacts are excessive, that they could smooth those impacts down, and we’ve suggested 15 percent impact for Rate 115.  If the Board were to rule that that was an appropriate consideration to make, then we would take that, and in our 2007 rates case we would isolate the impact of migration and ensure that rate impacts related to migration were limited to 15 percent for Rate 115 and that the remainder was spread over rates 100 and 110.

     So, in other words, what is the allocation rule that should be used to factor in migration costs?  And then you would take that rule and implement that in our 2007 case.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think the rest is largely argument.  Thank you very much, panel.  
     Thank you, Mr. Kaiser.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  
     Mr. Warren?

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN: 

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel, we have a brief of documents which was delivered yesterday.  I wonder if that might be marked as an exhibit.

     MS. SEBALJ:  It’s S1.7.

     EXHIBIT NO. S1.7:  BRIEF OF DODUMENTS SUBMITTED BY

     CONSUMERS COUNCIL OF CANADA
     MR. WARREN:  Perhaps my initial observation, members of the panel, is that one way to resolve the issues in dispute is to have the parties stand 10 paces apart and hurl document briefs at one another.  The heaviest one wins.

     Ms. Giridhar, my questions are principally for you, and the general thrust of what I want to talk about is how we got to where we are today.  And if you could turn up our document brief, Exhibit S1.7 to tab 1.

     Included in tab 1 is the settlement proposal in RP-2003-0203.  And I’ve included an extract which deals, if you look at the bottom of what’s marked as page 51 of 59, it deals in part with changes to what I’ll call the Rate 300 series of rates.  Do you see that?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  And to try and speed things along, Ms. Giridhar, can you and I agree that what happened in that settlement agreement is that Enbridge agreed to consider changes to all aspects of the Rate 300 series, and turning over to page 52 of 59, there were some specific matters that were to be considered; is that correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  And those specific matters were, to read the three bullet points at the top of page: 
“Combined, multi-facility delivery; storage and load-balancing options; flexibility in delivery point; minimum annual volumes; daily delivery obligations; provision of fuel; and, choice between bundled and unbundled services and term-differentiated rates.” 
Correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. WARREN:  And am I right my understanding, Ms. Giridhar, that the inclusion of that provision in the settlement agreement was as a result of representations or requests that were made by several groups of large volume customers; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s fair.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, the next step, I’d like you to turn to tab 2 of the document brief, which is the pre-filed evidence in the next rates case, which is EB-2005-0001.

     Ms. Giridhar, would you be familiar with the pre-filed evidence in that case, particularly H1, tab 1, schedule 1?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  And at a high level of generality, Ms. Giridhar, can you and I agree that what happened or what’s reflected in that pre-filed in evidence the next rates case are two things.

     First of all, if we look at page 8 of 12, there is pre-filed evidence which reviews the work you had done pursuant to the settlement agreement we just talked about in terms of filling what was perceived to be your obligation to review the Rate 300 series.  Is that correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. WARREN:  But in addition to that, if you look at page 12 of 12, there is a proposal.  The request for relief in relation to the 300 series is the consideration of Rate 300 re-design be separated from the 2006 rates case.  Is that right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  And members of the panel, if you take a look at page 12 of 12 in Exhibit – sorry, tab 2, you’ll see a numbered paragraph 30.  There is the request for relief that it be separated.
Am I right, Ms. Giridhar, that the review, your evidentiary review of what you’ve done for the Rate 300 re-design consideration, in addition to that prayer for relief that it be separated from the case, you have listed a number of interrogatories; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s fair.

     MR. WARREN:  And if I turn, then, to tab 3 of the document brief, we have at tab 3A an interrogatory that was filed by my friend Mr. Thompson’s client, which is marked – sorry, IGUA Interrogatory No. 94, which for the record is Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 94, in the EB-2005-0001 case.

     And if you turn to page 1 of 5 of that, in the interrogatory – I’m going to be so bold as to presume this is drafted by Mr. Thompson – what it recites are the three matters that were to be considered flowing from the settlement agreement in the earlier case; is that right?
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s right.

     MR. WARREN:  And then he poses two questions.  And I read the first one:
“What precludes EGD from proceeding immediately to honour these commitments by proposing changes to the 300 series of rates which are responsive to the needs of,”  and I underscore the following words, “EGD’s existing customers currently served under the auspices of EGD’s bundled rates.”
Have I read that correctly?
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  And the next question is:
“Why should the consideration of rate design changes responsive to the,” and I underscore the following words, “needs of EGD’s existing customers be held in (inaudible) pending EGD’s consideration of the appropriate design of rates to serve the unique requirements of potential power generation customers?”
Would I be correct, Ms. Giridhar, in interpreting those two questions as reflecting a certain anxiety on the part of the questioner that you get on with the job of re-designing your Rate 300 rates.  Is that fair, Ms. Giridhar?  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly that suggests that there was a view that these needs needed to be met, and that we should proceed to design unbundled rates.

     MR. WARREN:  And am I right, Ms. Giridhar, that those two questions posit a distinction between the needs of the existing customers on the one hand and what are described as the unique requirements of potential power generation customers on the other hand; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, in addition to the interrogatory that was delivered in that case by my friend Mr. Thompson’s client, if you turn to tab C, that’s 3C, this is an interrogatory which is posed by OAPPA.  And if you look at page 2 of 3 of the interrogatory, in VI, the sixth of the questions that are posed, it reads:
“Please explain why the company has taken the view that the outcome of the Ontario Energy Board Gas Electricity Interface Review must be known before developing unbundled rates for existing large volume customers.”
Would I be fair in interpreting that question, Ms. Giridhar, as again distinguishing between the needs and desire of existing large volume customers on one hand and the prospective or perceived interests of the generation customers; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  Finally, in terms of interrogatories, if I could ask you to flip back to tab 3B of the document brief, this is an interrogatory response filed by VECC.  It’s interrogatory No. 93, which was Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 83, in that proceeding.

     Now, attached, VECC asked you to provide copies of certain material associated with stakeholder meetings.  And in the interests of brevity, Ms. Giridhar, am I correct in understanding that following the settlement agreement which is tab 1 in this brief, that Enbridge undertook a process which included, among other things, holding stakeholder meetings with those parties who would be interested in the Rate 300 design issues?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. WARREN:  As part of that, you developed and circulated what was described as a strawman proposal for the re-design of the 300 series rates; is that correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. WARREN:  And in addition, you hired an outside consultant, Rudden Associates, in order to summarize, among other things, what had happened at the stakeholder process; is that correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, Ms. Giridhar, and Members of the Panel, there is a substantial volume of material here, but is it a fair summary of the material that it collects in this interrogatory response the record of the various stakeholder meetings and Rudden’s summary of it at the end; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, I’d ask Members of the Panel, I apologize, I didn’t have to the time yesterday to paginate the entire volume, so it may take some looking, but there are a number of attachments to this.  And attachment 8, which is about two-thirds of the way through this or more, appears to be, Ms. Giridhar, a Powerpoint presentation.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  Which is described as, “Stakeholder meeting review of unbundled rates,” dated February 1, 2005.

     Do you see that Ms. Giridhar?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, I’m presuming, am I, that this was a document that was prepared by Enbridge to, among other things, if you look at the second page, review the settlement agreement commitment and the process review that had taken place; is that correct?
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, Ms. Giridhar and Members of the Panel, if you could go in attachment 8 to page 6 of 21.  And you’ll see on that page the following text:
“Unbundled rates suitable for large and highly sophisticated customers who are highly capable of forecasting their natural gas requirements, determining the most optimal manner in which to contract for gas supply, pipeline capacity and storage, making decisions based on their individual needs and economic objectives.”
Have I read that correctly, Ms. Giridhar?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  Does this description of the customers who would be attracted by or interested in unbundled rates, does this reflect the fact that the rate 300 re-design process was focused entirely on large volume customers?  Is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s fair.

     MR. WARREN:  That, if you look at the descriptors on this page, none of those would apply, for example, to the residential class of customers; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s fair.

     MR. WARREN:  Or to the smaller general service customers; is that fair?
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s fair.
     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  Thank you.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, Ms. Giridhar, finally, in this tab 3B, at the very end of it – sorry, the penultimate document is attachment 11.  And this is a report on the unbundling process that was prepared by a man with a wonderful name, Overcast.  A man with a sunny disposition, we can only hope.

     And Mr. Overcast was employed by Rudden Associates; correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. WARREN:  And I just want you to take a look at page 1 of 10.  He says in the second full paragraph there, the second line or second sentence:
“Telephonic surveys utilize the standard survey form for existing customers and individualized discussion with potential new customer customers.”
May I presume, Ms. Giridhar, that the existing and prospective customers would all be large volume customers?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I’d ask you, then, to turn to tab 4, which is the next stage in the chronology.  And just to step back a moment, tab 2 was the evidence in the 2005-0001 case in which you proposed to separate out the 300 design series into a separate proceeding; is that correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, could you just repeat that?

     MR. WARREN:  Sorry, tab 2 is the pre-filed evidence in which you’re proposing to separate out the re-design –
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  That elicited certain interrogatory responses which we have reviewed at tab 3.  
     Then at tab 4, am I right, Ms. Giridhar, that what happened then is that the question of whether or not the Rate 300 re-design should be considered in the rate case became an issue on Issues Day; correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. WARREN:  And what’s reproduced is an extract from the transcript of May 19, 2005, the Issues Day, there.  And we have first the submissions that are made by Mr. Cass in which he talks about, beginning at page 102, at the very bottom, line 27, he sets out Enbridge’s position on whether or not the Rate 300 re-design issue should be included.  And the issue as, he says:
“It’s the company’s position that the Board’s consideration of the design for those rates should be put on a separate track from the main rates case so that it can be addressed as soon as the company’s in a position to make a rate design proposal.”
So that’s Enbridge’s position with respect to whether the issue should be considered or not.  It should not be, should be moved to a separate proceeding; correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.
     MR. WARREN:  And that elicited submissions first from – if I look at page 113 of that transcript, we have submissions from Ms. DeMarco who was acting for TransAlta in that case.  And Ms. DeMarco’s position is set out beginning at line 15, and I quote.  Sorry, if I go to line 12, she says:

“Basically, TransAlta will be making three main submissions in support of the inclusion of the issues on the issues list.  The first is at that the inclusion over of this issue in this form is necessary to implement the settlement agreement in the RP-2003-0203 proceeding.”
That’s the settlement proceeding we discussed first at tab 1, in which you had agreed to take a look at the Rate 300 series; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.
     MR. WARREN:  She then goes on to say, beginning at line 18:

“And the second main submission is that, notwithstanding the Board’s intention to deal with broad unbundling policy issues in the Natural Gas Forum, Gas Electricity Infrastructure proceeding, and notwithstanding the company’s current status of rate 300 re-design, the status and timing of the changes to that series is appropriately considered in this rate case as it impacts a broad range of customers and ratepayers in this proceeding.

And our third and final submission is that there is some urgency associated with these rate changes as the result of the considerable rate impacts that existing ratepayers are facing in this case through upstream transportation cost phase-in.”
Again, it would appear, Ms. Giridhar, that at least Ms. DeMarco was making a distinction between the matters considered with respect to electricity-related matters, on the one hand, and the urgency associated with getting on with the Rate 300 series of rates; is that fair?
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s fair.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, if we then go to the second set of submissions, which were by Ms. Young, who was acting on behalf of OAPPA, and those appear beginning on page 120 of the transcript.  Beginning at line 25, Ms. Young says:
“OAPPA believes that it is important to have the proposed issue 18.3 included on the issues list in this case for three related reasons, but nonetheless three main reasons.”

And then if I turn over to page 121, beginning at line 3:
“The importance of the unbundled rate review rested on the idea that existing large volume end users who were adversely affected by the change in upstream cost allocation will be in the best position to make economic decisions about their operations only with the complete range of options available as distinct offerings as well as unbundled options.”
And then at line 11:

“Unbundling serves to increase end users’ operational flexibility and it affords end users the opportunity to use and pay only for the storage and transportation services they require.”
May I presume, can we agree, Ms. Giridhar, that what Ms. Young is talking about there is the value of unbundling to the large volume customers she represents.  Is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s fair.

     MR. WARREN:  And finally, if I turn to page 123, we have the submissions of Mr. Thompson on behalf of his client, beginning at line 26:
“The parties that, I submit, were affected by this particular cost allocation change, they – the – they were burdened by it, were parties represented by the Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters, CASCO, that’s Canada Starch, IGUA, OAPPA, and TransAlta.”
Then further on, three-quarters of the way down page 124, beginning at line 21:
“Those proposals had a significant impact on large volume customers, and particularly high load factor customers, as well as large interruptible customers, and they were strenuously resisted.”
Then at page 125, beginning at line 26.

“There was nothing in this settlement,” and that’s the settlement that we talked about at the beginning of the cross-examination, “that says it’s for the benefit of potential markets for convergence of electricity and gas.”
And I underscore the following sentence:

“It’s for the benefit of existing customers.”  
And those existing customers would be the large volume customers; is that right?
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s right.

     MR. WARREN:  So do I take it that the argument of Mr. Thompson is that honouring the obligations, if I could put it that way, in the settlement agreement, are in the interests of and promote the interests of the existing large volume customers; correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. WARREN:  At tab 5 of the brief, we have what I might describe as the Board’s resolution of the argument on the Issues Day in the form of its Procedural Order dated May 20, 2005, in EB-2005-0001.

     I’d ask you to turn, Ms. Giridhar, to page 4 of the Board’s Procedural Order.  And with admirable brevity the Board says, and I quote:
“The Board fins that this issue will be included on the issues list.”
And then at the bottom of the page, the Board says:
“The Board is sensitive to the impacts of potential new gas-fired power generators, and will shortly initiate the Gas Electricity Interface Review.  However, existing customers must also be considered and the Board has heard clearly that there are current customers which would like the option of have the Rate 300 series, particularly given the potentially great rate impact on others classes from the phase-in of upstream costs.”
So I take it, can we agree, Ms. Giridhar that the Board was responding positively to the submissions made by Ms. Young, Ms. DeMarco, and Mr. Thompson, that this was a matter of concern to the existing high-volume customers and, therefore, the rate issue should be included in the issues list; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, at tab 6, Ms. Giridhar, and I don’t propose to take you through this, at the risk of post-traumatic stress syndrome, since you were the victim of hours of cross-examination on this issue.  Ms. Giridhar, would it be fair for me, in summary, in taking a look at the transcript of this hearing, it’s included in the issues list.  You’re cross-examined on August 24th and you’re cross-examined first by Ms. DeMarco, then by Ms. Young, and then by Mr. Thompson.  And the burden of the cross-examination was, Why didn’t you honour your obligations in the settlement agreement?  That was one of the matters that you were repeatedly asked to respond to; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I was certainly asked to respond frequently to that question, as to why we didn’t have a proposal in that case.

     MR. WARREN:  And the second thing is that you were asked repeatedly and with some force, I’m going to suggest, by Ms. DeMarco and Mr. Thompson in particular, about why you just couldn’t get on with the business of re-designing the Rate 300 rear series; is that fair?
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  I can’t recall the exact words, but that was the gist.

     MR. WARREN:  Right.  Well, let me take you briefly, Ms. Giridhar, to page 61 of the transcript, where in a series of questions Ms. DeMarco was asking you about what you’ve done in the Rate 300 series review, and the impact on the process of the Natural Gas Forum and the Gas Electricity Interface Review, Ms. DeMarco asks you, beginning at line 17:
“So, in fact, then, this response is not now accurate.  You have not been prevented from proceeding further; is that correct?”
And that’s an instance, I suggest to you, of Ms. DeMarco’s repeatedly pressing you on why you couldn’t get on with the job; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I might just read the preceding paragraph?

     MR. WARREN:  Sure.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I’d agree with your statement.

     MR. WARREN:  Then briefly, at page 91 of the transcript, Ms. Young puts the matter in a somewhat different context, beginning at line 9, when she says:
“Could you agree, and I think that you just have, that then if EGD has a group of customers requesting a certain type of service, would you agree that responding to that customer demand is an element of being market responsive?”  
And your answer is, “yes.”
And again, I suggest to you that Ms. Young was pressing you to get on with the business of responding to the needs of existing large volume customers; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  And finally, Mr. Thompson at page 96, with – again, actually, beginning at 95, Mr. Thompson repeats to you the words which you and I have just looked at, which are the words of the Board’s decision on Issues Day, on 95.  And then he asks, with characteristic admirable force and brevity, beginning at line 3:
“Now, have you progressed?  Have you done something?  Or are we just hearing the same tune as we heard previously?”
I’m suggesting to you that Mr. Thompson again was, like the others, taxing you on why you hadn’t done more on the Rate 300 re-design; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, turning, Ms. Giridhar, to tab 7 and following the hearing parties submitted written arguments.  And I’ve included at tab 7, first at tab A, the argument which Ms. DeMarco filed on behalf of TransAlta LP and TransAlta Energy Corp.  And that’s at tab 7A.  
     And if you look at page 3, numbered paragraph 6, Ms. DeMarco submits, and I quote:
“As a result, TransAlta’s participation in this EB-2005-0001 proceeding, which encompasses more than 65 issues, has been surgically refocused on the one issue related to EGD’s timely implementation of its Rate 300 series commitments, issue 18.3, in order to ensure that: 1) All of Enbridge’s existing large industrial customers may mitigate their very significant rate increases through the agreed-upon additional unbundled rate options.”
And I won’t take you through it, but if you look at the balance of Ms. – well, you can look at page 6.  What Ms. DeMarco was urging the Board to do is to require you to adhere to the undertaking – sorry, to what she describes as: 
“The express wording and the spirit and intent of the 2005 settlement agreement related to EGD’s Rate 300 re-design commitments.”
And again, that is Ms. DeMarco urging you to get on with the business of re-designing the rates, even though the proceeding we’re now in, the NGEIR proceeding, was just on the horizon; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s fair.

     MR. WARREN:  And then at tab 7b, we have Mr. Thompson.  In his argument in that case, the extract I’ve replicated there, sorry, I’ve copied a numbered paragraph 26, he simply adopts Ms. DeMarco’s submissions that you should get on with the – set a timetable to get on with honouring your commitments in the settlement agreement; fair?              

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  And finally, just to complete the loop on this, the Board issued its decision with reasons on February 9, 2006.  And looking at page 105 of the Board’s decision, paragraph 12.2.10:
“In the Board’s view, NGEIR also provides the most appropriate opportunity for the company to prepare and present re-designed rates for the conventional large volume customers.”
Which is what brings us here today; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s fair.

     MR. WARREN:  Can I summarize this history, Ms. Giridhar, can you and I agree that, certainly beginning with the settlement agreement in 2004, which is at tab 1, that from that point on there has been continuous – there’s been a continuous demand on Enbridge to get on with the business of re-designing Rate 300 series, and that demand has been made by the large volume customers to respond to their immediate pressing existing needs.  Is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is fair.

     MR. WARREN:  And that those needs have been repeatedly distinguished from, separated from, the interests that there may be of customers in the development of generation capacity; is that fair?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is fair.

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, Ms. Giridhar.  
     Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  
     We’ll take the morning break at this point.  20 minutes.  Thank you.  

--- Recess taken at 11:15 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:38 a.m. 

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Who is next in the cross-examination of this panel, Mr. Brown, do you have anything?

     MR. BROWN:  Just one question, if you would bear with me, Mr. Chair, and I’ve actually spoken to Ms. Giridhar about this.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BROWN:
     MR. BROWN:  Ms. Giridhar, right at the end of your examination in-chief by Mr. Stevens, you were, I think, sort of summarizing things and you said that Rate 115 would be impacted, and then you went on to say, but there would be consequences to Rate 125 and Rate 300 by migration.

      And I spoke with you about this during the break.  Could you please explain what you meant about “but there would be consequences to Rate 125 and Rate 300 by the migration”?  What I’m particularly interested in is do you anticipate that there will be any impact on the Rate 125 as a result of the forecast migration of that one customer?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I was speaking more generally to the fact that when migration occurs, the rate class from which migration occurs is impacted by the removal of costs and volumes; and similarly, the rate class to which migration happens is impacted by the arrival of costs and volumes of the migrating customer.  

     In the specific instance of Rate 125 and Rate 300, if this customer, the largest customer in Rate 115 were to migrate to Rate 125, their cost characteristics would be very similar to other customers that Rate 125 would serve; therefore you would not expect a change, or a material change anyway, in the costing of that rate.

     If that customer moved to Rate 300, that customer would continue to be cheaper to serve than other customers on Rate 300; therefore they would bring benefits to Rate 300.  And that was the point I was trying to make.

     MR. BROWN:  Thank you for that clarification.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Brown.  Anyone else?  Mr. Moran.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MORAN:
     MR. MORAN:  Let me start with you, Ms. Giridhar.  Tab 6 from Exhibit S1.6, the set of documents that Mr. Thompson was relying on this morning, could you turn that up, please?  This would be the excerpt from the decision on the 2000 rates case, dealing with the proposed Rate 125.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Now, as I understand it, Rate 125, when it was first proposed, it was first proposed in the 2000 rates case, right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And the purpose of Rate 125 was primarily to meet the need of gas-fired co-generators.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And if you look at page 65 of that excerpt.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  We see that reflected in the Board’s decision, right, on that page?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, what sentence were you referring?

     MR. MORAN:  In paragraph 6.5.2, the last sentence:

“While it is envisaged that most customers who will take service under Rate 125 will be cogeneration plants, the applicability of Rate 125 would not be limited to any particular end-use customer.”
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  So what we see reflected is a proposal from Enbridge which was, we know that we might have to meet the needs of co-generators, but we’re producing a rate which might also be of use to other customers provided that they qualify, but the primary purpose was for co-generators, right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And as I understand it, one of the qualifications at that time when it was first proposed was the same threshold that we see today, the 600,000 cubic metres per day.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And I think at that time, as I recall, there was also an annual amount, an annual limit?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, at the time there was a minimum annual requirement of 200 million cubic metres per year.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And that annual limit was removed in a subsequent rate case, correct, prior to this one?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  At the time when the rate was designed, the anticipation was that most of the load, gas-fired generation load would be base load in nature, and therefore would work at a high load factor and consume large volumes of gas throughout the year.

      Subsequently it appeared that there would be more merchant type lines, so while their capacity needs would be about the same, there was an expectation that their annual volumes would be less than 200 million.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And in terms of migration at that time, with what we see in paragraph 6.5.3 in Board’s decision is this statement:

“While the company does not expect any customers to take service under Rate 125 in the test year, it has requested Board approval of Rate 125 at this time because projects that would qualify for Rate 125 require some assurance regarding the level of applicable rates for feasibility assessment before proceeding beyond the planning stage.”
At that time, was there a customer who could have migrated?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And that would be TransAlta, right?  I’m authorized to ask you that on behalf of TransAlta.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Okay.  All right.

     MR. MORAN:  In case you’re worried about confidentiality.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And TransAlta, is, of course, a gas-fired co-generator.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And so at that time you weren’t expecting TransAlta to migrate in the test year?  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  But is it fair to say that Rate 125 as proposed at that time was not – there were no rules around it that would prevent migration if a customer chose to migrate; it was intended to be available for all customers, new and existing, when first proposed?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  And if you turn to page 66, as I understand it, this was not a settled issue; it was a matter that was put to the Board as part of a case and ultimately the Board made its decision on this issue and others.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And at page 6. – at paragraph 6.5.5, we see the statement, “The company’s proposal was supported by IGUA, Pollution Probe, Schools, and TCPL.”
And then it goes on to say that CAC, which is now the CCC, I think, and OAPPA opposed the proposal.  And there’s a description of why they opposed it.

      And as I understand, then, the Board ultimately went on to approve the new rate.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct. 

     MR. MORAN:  Now, in the 2001 rate case, you continued with Rate 125, right?  It continued to be part of the service offerings?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, it was implemented and was available.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And was IGUA in opposition to the rate in the 2001 case?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don’t recall that.  I don’t recall it being an issue in the case because it was already implemented as part of the 2000 case.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And, in fact, did it anybody take issue with Rate 125 in the 2001 case that you recall?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I cannot recall that anybody did.  I know that we proposed changes in Rate 125, and in a couple of cases after that.  I don’t think it was 2001, but I could – if take that subject to check, if you will, I can confirm that.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And it’s fair to say that over the subsequent rate cases from the year 2000, Rate 125 remained on the books, and as you indicated, a couple of modifications were made to it.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  But as far as TransAlta was concerned it was always an obligation option for TransAlta to migrate to that rate.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, that is correct.  And our evidence of the 2000 case indicated why that customer may not exercise that option until certain other things happened, and there was reference to implementing upstream cost allocation changes which would be a driver for that customer, to my –
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  When you were analyzing the possibility of migration, I think as you’ve indicated a couple of times, you looked at it solely from the point of view of distribution, cost, and whether – and on the business of whether somebody would make an economic decision on that alone.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And I think you’ve also indicated there might be other factors –
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  -- that would also influence the decision.

      All right.  Now, if you could then go to Exhibit S1.7, which is the brief of documents that Mr. Warren was relying on earlier this morning, and turn up tab 2.

     And this is part of the 2006 filing, right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And if I could bring you to page 11 of 12.

     First of all, as I understand it, Rate 125 is a no-notice service?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  As currently proposed?

     MR. MORAN:  Yes.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is a no-notice limited balancing portion of it, yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.  And if we look at what’s at the first bullet point in paragraph 29 on the page that I’ve just referred you to, there’s a statement there:

“There were significant gaps between what the company had directionally proposed in its strawman proposal and what some potential power generation customer desired in the form of load balancing and storage services.  And the most significant gaps related to the company’s current inability to offer a no-notice balancing service that would allow for full flexibility to customers; i.e., the ability to execute electricity dispatch decisions irrespective of the gas supply decisions made on a day-ahead basis or even limited intra-day basis.”
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And it’s fair to say that that could be a factor for a customer who’s trying to decide whether to migrate to one of the new – to Rate 125, for example?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly, because 125 is an unbundled rate; the decision to migrate would be driven by whether the customer believes they can operate within those parameters relative to the bundled rate.

     MR. MORAN:  Right.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  Any other parties wish to question?

     MS. SEBALJ:  I have just a few questions, just of a clarifying nature.  Because this brief was just received this morning, and you went through it fairly quickly, I wonder if you can just help us out with a few things.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. SEBALJ:

     MS. SEBALJ:  The first question relates to the difference between the 60 percent and the 38 percent.  And as I understood it, is the bulk of the difference between the 60 percent that we heard about at the beginning of this proceeding and the 38 we heard about the fact that you’re taking the 10 largest customers and then the next 10 are by way of lottery?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And that’s the only difference that leads us to the 38 percent?

     MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that’s definitely the key difference between the two impacts.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And if you can just go through with me, in the 38 percent proposal, what your proposal is for the 

· I know that that amounts to, I think I’ve heard you say that amounts to a 1 percent impact at the burner tip and 7 percent if the commodity is not part of the package.

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that’s correct.

     MS. SEBALJ:  But what is the proposal for the distribution of the – or the allocation of the costs and the revenue deficiencies in that case?

      So, if the ten largest and then the next ten by lottery, and I think I heard you say that the – it’s the existing rate class that will be impacted, the costs and the revenue deficiencies?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, under that proposal you would have impacts on Rates 100, 110, and 115, and we identified 2 percent impact on the distribution rate for Rate 100, a 1 percent impact on the distribution rate for Rate 110, and a 38 percent impact on the distribution rate for Rate 115.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And those are the numbers that we find at your proposal at tab 5; is that correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And then, moving to the smoothing proposal.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-hm.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Which is the 15 percent.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-hm.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I guess first a threshold question, at the risk of using that word yet again.

      Which of the two proposals – is the 15 percent proposal simply responsive to other parties in the hearing?  I’m just interested to know which of the two Enbridge is Enbridge’s preference.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I can’t say that I particularly have a preference, but I’ll just lay out the differences between the two.

      The first proposal reflects a cost allocation perspective to what the impact should be on the rate classes.

      The second proposal is more of a pricing perspective that says that if it is viewed that the cost allocation impacts are excessive, as a matter of fact, on a regular basis, the company does take into account what it might view as customer reaction to price increases.

      So, if pricing is a concern or the level of the rate increase is a concern, then proposal 2, which is to look at a 15 percent impact on Rate 115, could be effected.

      What that would mean is that we would transfer some recovery back to rates 100 and 110, and the impacts as shown thereof. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And, sorry, and those rate impacts are the 3 percent, 2 percent, and 15 percent?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MS. SEBALJ:  That you have in your proposal.

     And finally, I just wanted to be clear about the costs that are contained in your letter.  This is the loose letter, but that is otherwise behind tab 4 of your brief.

      These costs are based on the migration of 20 customers.  Does it matter whether that’s the top ten customers and then ten by lottery, or whether it’s just the top 20 customers?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  It does not matter.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So those costs are the costs regardless for the manual implementation?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  That’s correct.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Those are my questions, Panel.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:
     MR. RUPERT:  Just one question on the 15 percent and the 38 percent.  You didn’t use the word but it strikes me that the 15 percent solution, if I can call it that, is your approach, or an approach, to mitigation; that’s what it is, is it not?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MR. RUPERT:  So if you were asked what is the right answer, forget mitigation, you would support the 38 percent answer now, is that...

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The answer to that is yes.  Based on the assumption that 20 customers would migrate, and trying to simulate the settlement agreement in terms of who might compose those 20 customers, 38 percent would be the right answer.

     MR. RUPERT:  And the other question I had was something that flowed from Mr. Thompson’s questions, which I think were along the lines of, you know, why do anything right now?  Why don’t you wait and see if there’s migration?

     What is the information and feedback you’ve had from Rate 115 customers you’ve spoken to about the likelihood of interest in migrating to the new Rate 300?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  At this point, through discussions that I’ve had or my staff have had, I am aware of two customers who are seriously considering moving to unbundled rates.

     MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thanks.  Just coming back to the costs of the manual implementation.  I’m looking at the loose letter, and that has the estimates that we’ve gone through.

      Am I correct that the company’s proposal is that those costs are allocated to both the unbundled and the bundled rates?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  So that’s 110, 100, 115, 125, and the 300 series?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  As well as the interruptible rates, 145, 170.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Do we have anywhere in the evidence the impact of those or that – do you consider those to be fairly small impacts?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The impact of the implementation would be identical for all of the large-volume customers because I would just take the number of customers and divide that through, so it will be a fixed charge per customer for –
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Is that the $50 that you were –
     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That was the $50 for an automated solution.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And for the manual.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Just a really rough estimate, I think I calculated it, would lie somewhere between $25 and $35.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And I think you did refer to that earlier, didn’t you?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I might have.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, now I put it together.

      And just turning to this settlement agreement which is behind tab 3 of your book of documents.  And I’m looking at page 32, which is the discussion of the Rate 300 series.  I’m looking at paragraph Q, where there is reference to costs of between 250 and $750,000 a year.  Is that in addition to the costs that are outlined in this letter of July 13th, or are they the same thing?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  They are included as the ongoing costs, so that represents the bulk of the costs that are represented in this letter of July 13th.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I should then, if I may, clarify that.  When I came up with between 25 and 35, I was effectively spreading the costs of nomination windows over everybody, but in effect, the settlement agreement contemplates that those costs would be stripped out and charged only to the customers wanting the higher nomination windows.  

     So on that basis the manual implementation would not have a differential charge between those wanting regular NAESB windows and the higher charge for those wanting the additional nomination windows.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And who’s eligible for the greater number of nomination windows; only the unbundled or everybody?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Only the bundled, and the expectation would be that it would be power generation customers that would want it, because industrial customers typically would have no need for the additional nomination windows.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, so a fairly large chunk of those on-going costs are related to the nomination windows, and those don’t go to everybody.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s right.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Those only go to a fairly small number of customers.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Who are taking those, and that therefore your 25 to $35 estimate for the impact on all large-volume customers would therefore be substantially smaller, I am presuming?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct, yes.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  So we’re left with virtually no impact, no material impact, on large volume customers from the one-time and ongoing manual implementation costs?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would say that’s a fair statement, but I would – I could try and work out what that number would be if the Board wishes.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  I mean, I’m content that if 250 to 750 is coming out of the 300 to 825 range, there’s not much left, right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you, those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Just on that last point.  Does the same thing apply to the one-time start-up costs?  Are the bulk of those related to the nomination windows or not.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  No, they are not.

     MR. KAISER:  So it’s just the second category.

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  That’s correct.

     MR. KAISER:  Where that differential arises?

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  And the one-time start-up costs would be presumably capitalized and recovered over more years than just one.  So, you know, if you’ve got an equivalent to 800,000 O&M charge versus an 800,000 startup charge, the latter would have a much smaller impact on an annual term because it will be spread over between five and seven years.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  Thank you.  (Check all).

      Mr. Stevens, any re-examination?

     MR. STEVENS:  No, thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Are you ready to proceed, Mr. Stevens?


MR. STEVENS:  Yes, sir.  Based on the comments made earlier today, I was proposing to limit my argument simply to the question of where these costs ought to be allocated as between large and small-volume customers.  I just wanted to, before I began, make sure that that’s what you’re looking for.

     MR. KAISER:  I think it is, but let me just check.

     [The Board confers]

      Mr. Brown, your submissions, which I know are slightly on a different topic – Mr. Stevens, you don’t have an issue with Mr. Brown’s argument or do you?

     MR. STEVENS:  No, we don’t, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  You don’t need to hear from him first, is what I’m saying.

     MR. STEVENS:  No, we don’t.

     MR. KAISER:  I didn’t think so.  Why don’t we do this.  We’ll proceed with you, and then we’ll have lunch, and then we’ll have the other parties respond – or Mr. Thompson, do you have to catch a plane?

     MR. THOMPSON:  At some point.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, we’re in your hands.  Would you rather argue before lunch or after?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, my preference would be before, but I don’t want to take us – you know, it’s noon now, so why don’t we let Mr. Stevens go and I’ll come back after lunch.

     MR. STEVENS:  If it’s helpful, sir, I don’t expect to be more than five or ten minutes at the outside.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Please proceed.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STEVENS:

     MR. STEVENS:  Just to begin, I’d like to highlight that it’s a bit of a difficult position for the company to be put in on this issue, in terms of being asked to argue on issues of allocation of costs between different rate classes and essentially to be asked to choose to prefer one rate class over another.

      Now, while we do take a position on this question, and that position is consistent with the cost allocation principles that the witnesses have set out, I just wanted to preface it by saying that it is a tough spot to be in.

     Just to begin, I wanted to respond a little bit just to the tenor of the beginning of Mr. Thompson’s cross-examination.  I took from it an insinuation that the company had somehow misrepresented or deceived people by not giving all the information in a timely fashion, and the company was doing things for its own benefit perhaps somehow.  In my submission, that’s entirely unsubstantiated and unfair, as you’ve heard from the witnesses.

     The information about the costs in this matter have been presented as soon as they’ve been available.  Many of the costs have been presented from the beginning.  And the witnesses have always been available to respond to any questions being asked of them through a series of technical conferences, and in response to the letters that Mr. Thompson sent just last week.

     In my submission, the company’s been entirely responsive to demands placed on it by industry representatives, whether they be IGUA, OAPPA, TransAlta, and others.  We’ve been entirely responsive to the Board’s direction to get moving with this, get some rates proposed, and that’s why we’re here today.

     Unfortunately, to do this, it costs money in terms of implementing these, and there are revenue deficiency impacts.

     And to do it more quickly, in terms of doing it before the automated system is put into place, there’s even more money.  And everybody’s agreed that the company is to be kept whole.  So the question is, how ought these costs to be allocated?

     Simply stated, it’s the company’s position that these costs, whether they’re implementation costs, whether they’re revenue deficiencies, they ought to be allocated among large-volume customers.  The witnesses have set out in particular how the company proposes these allocations shall work.  But the gist of it is that they’re among large-volume customers.  Generally, Rates 100, 110, 115, those large-volume customers, as well as 300.

     In our submission, and this can be seen, I think, through the exchange between Mr. Warren and the witnesses, the impact of offering these new rates is to give choice to large-volume customers.  Certain of them have been clamouring for this choice for years and wanted it to be effective as soon as their true rates were being reflected when the T-service credits were being phased out.  That’s what’s happening now.  This choice is now available to any large-volume customers who choose to take that option – or it will be available.  In the interim it’s available to 20, but we’re moving towards an endstate where anybody who wishes can take advantage.

     There’s no corresponding benefit, in my submission, for small-volume customers, for the residential and other small customers on the system.  In our submission, it’s not like the Union line case to which Mr. Thompson referred, where all customers were going to have the benefit of greater access to the sales of gas commodity by marketers.

     In that instance, as I understand it, the expectation was that all customers could benefit by increased competition for the commodity.  That’s not the case here.

     We’re talking solely about things that are being designed to help large-volume customers manage their own gas operations more efficiently.

     And in those circumstances, the company respectfully submits that it’s appropriate that the parties who benefit are the parties who ought to pay for the costs which lead to that benefit.  And subject to any questions, those are our submissions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Mr. Brown, did you want to proceed before we break for lunch?

     MR. BROWN:  Yes, certainly I could do that, if there’s no objection.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BROWN:
     MR. BROWN:  On behalf of my client, in particular  Sithe Goreway, I have no submissions on this issue of large/small allocation that Mr. Thompson and Mr. Warren have raised.

     However, this threshold issue does have a bearing on another matter, which is the construction of the lateral pipeline by Enbridge Gas Distribution for the Goreway Station.

     And perhaps, in that regard, I could provide you, members of the panel, with two things.  The first is a copy of the Board’s decision that came out earlier this week on the Goreway leave-to-construct; and also an extract from Enbridge’s evidence on that leave-to-construct application.

     Fundamentally, the submissions that I’d like to make before you now relate to what I perceive to be a timing rather than a substantive issue.  But it’s an extremely important timing issue, and direction from this Panel, I think, is required.

     The issue arises by virtue of the decision that came out earlier this week by the Board in respect of the Goreway leave-to-construct.  The Board Panel granted leave-to-construct, but with a caveat, and it’s the caveat, at least as I understand the caveat, that is prompting my submissions.

     If you could turn to page 7 of the Board decision, in the section regarding economic feasibility.  An issue had arisen in the case, and it was a written proceeding, as to whether the existing gas delivery contract that has been signed by Sithe Goreway with Enbridge conformed with the Rate 125 tariff, and the crux of the issue, which was an issue raised by Board Staff, not by the parties or an intervenor, was around the billing contract demand feature.  And Board Staff put a number of scenarios in their final argument before the Board querying whether or not the billing contract demand feature was consistent with Rate 125 as currently written.

     Both Sithe and Enbridge argued strongly, in their written submissions, that, in fact, the billing contract demand feature was consistent with the current Rate 125, particularly the authorized overrun feature for dedicated pipelines.  So that’s sort of the context for the issue.

     The Board at the bottom of page 7 of its decision noted that there was a difference in interpretation regarding Rate 125, and the Board commented that this was a rates matter and will be settled in another forum.


The Board concluded that it would be in the public interest if Enbridge has a contract with Sithe Global under a Board-approved rate and the project achieved a PI of at least 1.0, which the executed contract, in fact, does.

     And then on the next page, page 8, about four lines down the page, the Board held:

“For leave-to-construct, dedicated facilities of the type proposed, the Board requires that the parties enter into a contract under a Board- approved rate and that there not be adverse rate impacts for other customers; that is, the PI’s should be at least 1.0.  The issue of Rate 125 and its interpretation will be dealt with elsewhere.  We note that this matter is before the Board in the current NGEIR proceeding.”
And then in the conclusion the Board said it was going to grant leave-to-construct on standard conditions. But then the last sentence in that section was, “The leave-to-construct is valid if Enbridge has a contract with Sithe Global.”

So, as I read the Board decision, and this is just my interpretation of it, as I understand what that Board Panel was saying is that there was some issue raised as to whether or not the terms of the contract, the billing demand feature, were consistent with Rate 125 as currently written.  That is a matter that is before this panel, in terms of the issues that have been raised in the NGEIR proceeding.  And so, therefore, leave-to-construct was granted, but subject to the caveat that there would have to be a contract that conformed with the rate.

     So what I took from the Board decision earlier this week is that it was looking to the panel in this proceeding to essentially ratify, or to make that determination as to whether the Sithe contract conformed with Rate 125, and I guess, reading between the lines, what I had concluded was that since the settlement agreement that the parties had reached with Enbridge specifically addressed the billing contract demand feature of Rate 125, everyone was content with it, and indeed, two different copies of a modified Rate 125 tariff have been filed, I think, earlier by Mr. Stevens with this Board, that once the Enbridge settlement was approved, then substantively everything would be all right, and then you would have the contract between Sithe and Enbridge unambiguously complying or conforming with the Rate 125 tariff.

     So there doesn’t seem to be any substantive dispute; it’s a matter of timing.

     However, timing is of critical importance.  The second document that I handed up to you is an extract from the Enbridge/Goreway leave-to-construct, Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 2, page 1 of 1.

     And as you can see, this is the proposed construction schedule that the utility put forward, and the schedule is to commence construction early this month with final inspection – well, with completion of construction by December, commissioning in February, and then Goreway, which is being constructed, will operate single-cycle next summer.

     So, from my client’s perspective, it’s extremely important that the utility be given an unambiguous green light to proceed with leave-to-construct on the schedule that’s proposed.

     Which brings me to the issue that was before you today.

     As the settlement agreement on the Enbridge issues has been drafted, there are two potential timing obstacles to the blessing of Rate 125 with the billing contract demand.  And the first is the threshold issue that has been argued before you today.  And specifically, if I could take you to – sorry –page 10 of the settlement agreement, the fifth paragraph down, you’ll see that it reads:

“Depending on the determination of the threshold issues set out above,” which my friends have cross-examined on this morning, “certain parties,” essentially, Mr. Warren’s camp and others, “do not support the settlement of issues related to the company’s proposed Rate 125.  Specifically, if the Board determines and responds to the threshold issue, then any portion of the implementation costs and revenue deficiencies are to be allocated to residential or general-service customers, then those parties do not agree to any of the proposed changes to Rate 125.”
So if the outcome of the argument before you today is that Mr. Warren wins and Mr. Thompson loses, this becomes a moot point.  If, however, Mr. Thompson is successful in whole or in part, and there’s some allocation of costs to the smaller volume customers, the way the settlement agreement reads, you’re really left with Rate 125 being unsettled and the whole thing is opened up.

     Now, my sense of the parties in the room is that this language is put in there simply to ensure that they have the opportunity and rights to argue before you what the appropriate allocation should be with respect to any migration deficiencies or implementation costs, and as I understand the discussions that we’ve had around Rate 125, no one’s actually objecting to what I would call the structural details of the rate.

     But in terms of giving a blessing to the billing contract demand feature of Rate 125, I mean, this is one pos–this is a timing obstacle which is a very real one from my client’s perspective.

     The second timing obstacle is in section 1.1I of the settlement agreement, which I think someone referred to you earlier today, and that’s on page 15.

     And this is the portion that says all parties accept the proposed threshold for Rate 125, but IGUA, AMPCO, and the Exporters’ acceptance is on condition that they can request the Board to limit the availability of their Rate 125 service to new loads service only.  

     And I’m not sure at the end of the day whether they’ll make that request or not, but they’ve reserved their rights.  So, again, that’s a potential obstacle, or timing obstacle, to the blessing of Rate 125.

     In the case of Sithe Goreway, of course, it’s new load, and so the concern that Mr. Thompson has raised about whether Rate 125 as re-designed should apply to new or to existing customers simply doesn’t arise in the case of my client and the construction of the Goreway pipeline.

     So the simple submissions I’d like to make to you, in light of that background, is, in my submission, neither issue – that is, the threshold issue that the parties are arguing before you today, or the new versus existing customer eligibility issue – neither issue should delay the construction of the pipeline, and neither issue should stand in the way of this Board being able to indicate in some fashion that the agreed upon Rate 125, the structural aspects of the agreed upon Rate 125, would make Sithe’s contract unambiguously consistent with a Board-approved rate.

     You can therefore then give blessing to the rate and the pipeline can proceed.

     So what I would propose in terms of sort of the bottom line of this is essentially the direction I would like to get from this Panel is twofold:  First, that this Panel indicates that it is the appropriate forum in which this issue of the conformity of the Sithe/Enbridge contract to the approved tariff is dealt with in some fashion; and that we’re not having to go off to some other forum of the Board to get this issue done.  And I suspect there’s no difficulty with that.

     And then the second thing is to get a substantive direction from the Board that will give Enbridge the green light to proceed with the leave-to-construct; that is, the assurance that there is a contract there that conforms with the tariff.

     And in my submission, that can be done in one of two ways.  It can be done by means of a simple indication or declaration by this Board confirming that the contract entered into between Sithe and Enbridge conforms with Rate 125, particularly as Rate 125 has been clarified in the Enbridge settlement agreement.

     Or, the second, I guess, mechanism open to this Panel would be to approve the structural rate design changes to Rate 125, including the inclusion of a definition of billing contract demand and all of that sort of stuff, but to approve it without prejudice to the rights of the parties to this proceeding to fully argue about the cost allocation implications of the approval of Rate 125.

     And secondly, without prejudice to the right of my friend Mr. Thompson, and I guess the exporters, arguing later in this proceeding that Rate 125 should be limited to new load rather than to new load and existing customers.

     So I think either one of those will achieve the end that I am seeking; that is, that whatever further clarification is required as a result of the Board’s leave-to-construct order earlier this week emanates from this Panel as soon as possible, so that Enbridge is given the assurance that it does have a contract with a customer that conforms with the rate, and therefore there’s no ambiguity as to whether or not it can proceed with the construction of the pipeline.

     Those are my submissions on that point.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Brown.  
Mr. Warren, has Mr. Brown accurately stated your position?

     MR. WARREN:  He has.  I thought we had put this issue to bed on day one of this proceeding.  The position of my clients and the other groups for whom I’ve been asked to speak on the matter is that approval of the substance of Rate 125 should not depend on the outcome of this cost allocation issue.  So that the relief that Mr. Brown asks for from my clients’ perspective can be granted.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  And that’s how I understood it.  Thank you.

      All right.  We’ll come back in an hour and hear further submissions

--- Recess taken at 12:24 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:28 p.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

Mr. Thompson.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just by way of a preliminary matter, and with respect to the schedule, the IGUA witness panel which was on there at one point in time seems to have fallen between the cracks.  I’m sure that was inadvertent.

     It consists of Mr. Fournier and Mr. Butler, and ideally Mr. White if he’s available.  And in talking with Mr. Man and others, the suggestion was that they could follow the panels that are scheduled for, I guess it’s day 12, which, as I understand it, there’s a Union panel and then a City of Kitchener panel.

      I had suggested Tuesday might be an appropriate day, but Mr. Man tells me the choices are Monday or Thursday.  Is that –
     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So I’d like to propose Thursday, if that’s acceptable to the Board.  And the reason I do that is to bring the people here, and then run the risk of them not getting reached on Monday might be a problem.

     Would that be acceptable, to set it for Thursday?

     MR. KAISER:  Can we fit them in Thursday?  Is that satisfactory to you?

     MR. MAN:  Well, we can have a longer session on Monday.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I think he’s worried we may not get to them.  Is there any reason why we can’t put them in Thursday?

     MS. SEBALJ:  I think Thursday first thing is possible; it’s fine.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thursday, 9 o’clock?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  That would be appreciated.  Now, I suppose I could check to see if they could come Monday, late in the day, if you wanted me to do that as sort of an alternative?  Does it matter?

     MR. KAISER:  Well, you pick, we’ll do whatever you want.   I just don’t know how late we’ll go on Monday or whether we’ll reach them.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let’s leave it at Thursday, if that’s okay.

     MR. KAISER:  That might be the safest thing to do.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks very much.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thursday.

     MS. SEBALJ:  If I could, just before you start, Mr. Thompson, the two documents that were produced by Mr. Brown weren’t marked before the lunch break, and I’d like to mark them now as S1.8, that being the proposed construction schedule, and S1.9, being the Board’s decision and order in EB-2005-0539.

     EXHIBIT NO. S1.8:  SITHE GOREWARY PROPOSED 
CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE

     EXHIBIT NO. S1.9:  BOARD DECISION AND ORDER IN EB-
2005-0539

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay?  Just if I might, Mr. Chairman, with respect to Mr. Brown’s submissions, indicate that IGUA has no objection to the billing contract demand feature of the Rate 125.  Our only concern is whether it applies to existing customers.  We take the position that it should be limited to existing customers, and I’ll make that – the rationale for that, I understand, is to be done in our final argument.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So turning to Mr. Stevens’ submission.  And just with respect to this question of timely disclosure of information, I’d like to touch on that briefly.

      The first point I’d like to make is this, that my client tries its best to forge a consensus in these settlement conferences that the Board schedules, but it can only do so as long as it has the facts presented to it in advance of the process.

      And it’s very concerned about rate impacts, as is evidenced from its filing in this case.  And in terms of the rate impacts, I just want to remind the Board, and indeed you’ll find these documents in the brief that we filed on Monday last, J7.3, the evidence with respect to Rate 300, as you’ll recall, came in only after the Board directed Enbridge to file some further evidence, and following that, there was a Technical Conference.  And it was at that Technical Conference that we asked questions about impacts.  

     And the responses contained in the undertakings from Enbridge with respect to the matter are found at tabs 3, 4, and 5 of our brief.  And you’ll see those were provided on May the 8th.

     We did give advance notice of these questions in writing, and got responses.  And as of that point in time, the impacts were showing zero percent impact on Rate 115, as you can see at tab 3, in the chart in the middle of the page.

      The settlement conference proceeded and was late in the day, and the e-mail exchange you’ll find at tab 6 and tab 7 was the first time we saw these significant impacts.

      And we tried to react to it as best we could.  And we’re here today to deal with the output of that information.

      The other aspect of the matter that we tried to get a handle on was this question of what are the implementation costs with respect to the manual solution.  There’s nothing in the record about that that I could recall.  And at tab 4 of Mr. Stevens’ brief, you’ll see the question we asked in our letter, “What are the total estimated implementation costs related to the startup and operation of the manual administration of up to 20 customers?”

And we got the answer to that this morning in a letter that says between 600 and $875,000.  And I understand, as a result of Ms. Chaplin’s examination, that some 250 to 750 of that relates to the nomination windows.

      So there are certainly some, I guess, question marks we have on these estimates.

      These actual dollars will be subject to deferral account protection, and so I don’t want to get too hung up on their amounts.  We’ll have an opportunity to test those at an appropriate time.

     But I do get a little exercised, as was evident this morning, when this stuff comes in very late in the day, and then I hear counsel saying, we’ve done everything to make timely disclosure.

      That standard, in my respectful submission, was not met here.  But here we are.  Let’s deal with the facts as we have them.

     And the scope of the issue, as I understand it, that we’re dealing with today is whether small customers, residential and small commercial, have any responsibility for either the implementation costs of these measures or the migration deficiencies that may occur as a result of the rate proposals that are before the Board in this particular proceeding.  And in my respectful submission, the disposition of that issue turns on an identification of the drivers for the changes that are before you in these particular proceedings.

     And I readily concede, as Mr. Warren has pointed out, that marketers, gas-fired generators, industrial customers, and others have been pressing the Board to get Enbridge to complete its unbundling of rates.  They started that many, many years ago, and we’re just now seeing the results of the process.

      But it’s clear that part of the delay in them getting to the endstate was this business of gas-fired generators’ needs.  And the needs of gas-fired generators, and the need to respond to them, is really a policy-driven measure of the Government of Ontario.  I pose the question rhetorically:  What would the costs be if we didn’t have that policy initiative?  And I suggest they probably would be a lot less.

      So I readily concede the customers that I represent have a significant obligation here to pick up these costs, but I’m not prepared to concede they should shoulder the entire burden.

      And my suggestion is that some of the burden, some of the burden, is allocable across the system.  And that’s really the issue.  Is some of the burden allocable across the system?

      And my suggestion and submission to you is that some of it should be, for the reasons that we’re responding to the needs of gas-fired generators generally, we’re attempting to keep rates robust against bypass.  And if bypass occurs, in terms of existing customers, then everybody picks up a piece of that burden.  I’m not suggesting today as to how – what the particular allocation factor is, but everybody shares a bit of the burden in the event that bypass occurs.

      And then the other aspect that I submit has some relevance to how the burden should be spread is unbundling generally.  And in our material, and I’ve referred to it previously, there is the Board’s decision in the Union Gas proceeding at – just find my tab here... tab 10.

      And you’ll see there that in that particular case where the Board was dealing with implementation costs of unbundling for services and rates for small-volume customers, the Board did state, at the bottom of page 31, that:

 “Unbundling costs at issue in these proceedings are expected to result in increased competition in the gas commodity to the benefit of all natural gas consumers....”
And over at the next page in the middle of the page, the Board direct Union, “to recover part of the costs on a volumetric basis from all customers.” 

     So that, in my submission, is a precedent that does support allocating some of these costs to the smaller rate classes. 

     And those are the factual points and the points of principle on which I rely to urge you to find that the small classes should not be excluded from responsibility for these implementation costs at this time.            

     MR. THOMPSON:  In terms of the migration deficiencies, at this stage there really aren’t any.  And the forecast that there will be some, in my respectful submission, you should not give any weight to, at this particular time.  The settlement agreement contemplates that the company has to provide customers with the information that they need to make an informed decision as to whether they should or should not migrate.  I don’t know how Ms. Sarnofsky can say two customers are seriously considering migration when that information has not even been developed yet.

     The rate schedules don’t say a whole lot in terms of the storage costs and the implications of those costs, and that’s the whole purpose of the clause in the settlement agreement, is to make sure that that information is developed in a way – it’s supposed to be developed in consultation with customer representatives – developed in a way so that customers can make an informed decision.

      But in terms of the small customers’ exposure to migration costs, that, in my submission, arises if there’s a need to mitigate.  And at this point in time, we don’t know whether there’s a need to mitigate.  The company is asking you to, as I understand it, accept their assumption that migration is going to occur, and do something with the rates – I’m not entirely clear what it is – because these rates don’t come into effect until 2007.

      I urge you not to accept the assumption.  If there’s any assumption that’s to be made, it should be there will be no migration.  We’ll have the meeting in September.  The customers will be able to make an informed decision, and my client can lead evidence in the 2007 rate case pertaining to the migration assumption.

      But I don’t want to foreclose the possibility that if there is a major migration revenue deficiency, that some of that has to get picked up by all customer classes.  That’s been the practice in the past, and it’s a practice that, in my respectful submission, should continue.

      As evidence of that, that when migration deficiencies occur, or when rate increases have to be phased-in, and that all customers share the burden, there are two documents in the brief on which I rely.  

     One was the settlement agreement in the Enbridge case dealing with the phase-out of cost allocation changes.  And you’ll find that at tab 12 of the brief, where, at page 51 of 59, there was phase-out, or if you will, a phase-in of the impacts of this hit that industrials had to take, at no more than 9 percent per year.  

     The other precedent on which I rely to support the mitigation proposition on all customers sharing the burden is the Board’s decision with respect to the delivery commitment credit in Union’s case.  And you’ll find that at tab 11, where the Board decided to phase out, if you will, the delivery commitment credit at about 5 percent per year, which meant every rate class had a burden until that phase-out was continued.  

     So the company has tabled its proposal here of a mitigation of 15 percent, and it’s limited in its application to the Rates 100, 110, and 115.  And my submission is, we can deal with what’s the appropriate percentages when we get the 2007 case, but that it shouldn’t be confined to those rate classes at this point in time.

      So, unless there are any questions, those are my submissions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Thompson, I think you’re saying that migration – in a sense, the migration cost issue we should set aside for the 2007 rate case, in effect, but I’m unclear with respect to the implementation costs, of the one-time and the on-going, are you making a specific proposal as to what proportion of those costs should be borne by small-volume customers?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Not at this point.  The evidence demonstrates there’s a variety of allocation factors that might apply.  In the Union case, the Board took 50 percent of the costs and allocated them on a volumetric basis.  I think that might be, in this particular case, inappropriate.  I think that’s probably a little too much to put on the smaller customers.

     But I proceeded on the premise we can explore those allocation factors and how they ought to be applied in the 2007 case.

     All I’m asking today is that they not be foreclosed, that they not be, in effect, excluded from exposure.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And back, again, to the migration effect costs.

     You are citing two examples of what you’re claiming are comparable situations, which were the phase-in of the DOS allocation changes of the Enbridge and the phase-out of the DCC for Union.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Am I correct that in those circumstances  there were costs being borne by those small-volume customers already?  Would you just distinguish those cases from the one at hand, where at this point, none of the costs that you may be seeking to impose on small-volume customers, they’re not bearing at the current time?

     MR. THOMPSON:  I agree with that.  The only point I was going to make was if you mitigate for one rate class, it’s got go somewhere.  And what Enbridge is saying, I’ll push them out into 100 and 110, and all I’m saying is – and I don’t quarrel with that; certainly they should pick up a piece, but I just think it might more appropriately go a little further than that.

      The interruptibles are out because they’re not part of this. We’re just dealing with the allocation to firm service customers.  And again, I don’t think this is a – it should not be a large hit for the smaller classes.  But I don’t think it should be excluded as a matter of concept at this particular point in time.  And we’ll have a better handle on whether it really is something to worry about after we have this meeting and see who’s going to take up this service.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:
     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, sir.

      By way of a preliminary observation, I should say that I have been elected to speak today to this issue on behalf not only of my client but also the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, Energy Probe, Schools Energy Coalition, and the Low Income Energy Network.

      My observation should be taken as reflecting their positions as well.

      Let me say, to begin, with as a preliminary observation, we support the position which was expressed by Mr. Stevens on behalf of Enbridge, that the costs of the rate changes in 125 and 300 should be borne by the large consumers, and we say that as a starting point because that is consistent with ordinarily accepted rate allocation principals; namely, that those who cause the costs should bear them, and those who benefit from the costs should bear them.

      In my respectful submission, it is clear beyond question that the changes in the Rate 300 series were driven by the large consumers.  You will recall that I took Ms. Giridhar through the chronology that leads us to today.  It is those large-volume customers that pressed for the provision in the settlement agreement in RP-2003-0203 that the Rate 300 changes be considered by Enbridge.

      It was those customers who pressed EGD to embark upon the consensus-building process that is referred to in the response to the VECC interrogatory included in my materials.  And it’s interesting, members of the Panel, if you read through those materials, you will see that when Enbridge attempted to reach a consensus – and this is found at tab 3B of my materials, and I don’t ask you to turn it up.  It’s voluminous, so it’s not necessary that you turn it up.  


My point simply is that when you take a look at those materials, when Enbridge tries to reach a consensus among the large volume customers as to the specific details of the Rate 300 re-design, they could not reach a consensus.  There was a quarrel among the people who were to benefit from this as to what the rate design should be.

      It was the large-volume customers who made an issue in the last main rates case about EGD’s alleged failure to honour the settlement agreement in the last rates case.  It was those customers who pressed to have it made an issue in that case.  It was those customers whose counsel excoriated Ms. Giridhar for the alleged failure to honour the obligation.  


The obvious reason why they were taking that position, in my respectful submission, is, if you look at, again in that tab 3B, if you look at the material that Enbridge produced as part of that consensus-building exercise, and this, I referred you to.  It is in Exhibit I – sorry.

     Tab 3B of my materials in attachment 8. You don’t really need to turn it up.  I referred you to it this morning.  It’s a page that looks much like this.

      When they described the unbundled rate suitability, and I quote:

“Unbundled rates suitable for large and highly sophisticated customers who are highly capable of forecasting their natural gas requirements, determining the most optimal manner in which to contract for gas supply, pipeline capacity, and storage, making decisions based on their individual needs and economic objectives…”

It is clear, in my respectful submission, beyond any shadow of a doubt, that all of these rate changes were driven by the desire of the large-volume customers to have a better set of arrangements.

      And the position we find ourselves in now is that, having arrived at the endstate where they have that better set of arrangements, they are suffering from the operation of the law of unintended consequences.

     That is good for some of them, but not for others, and they’re simply seeking to share the pain of that conclusion.  But the process has been driven from the beginning by them.

     Now, the only argument, in my respectful submission, that my friend Mr. Thompson advances is one that is – I’m not quite sure what the precise word is but it’s difficult to pin down the notion of making rates robust against bypass.  And it’s important to parse the changes that you have in front of you.  Both the Rate 125 and the Rate 300, a substantial portion of those are driven, as I say, by the longstanding desires of the large consumers to have unbundled rates available to them.  And you’ll recall when I took Ms. Giridhar through the material this morning, she accepted, or agreed with me, that a distinction was made by them throughout about the importance of getting the unbundled rates on the one hand, and on the other hand, finding some break-rate for the generators.

      But let me turn directly and specifically to this argument which my friend Mr. Thompson makes about making rates robust against bypass.

      And Mr. Thompson, with admirable imagination, is riding on the back of one single sentence in the Greenfield Energy Centre decision, and it’s a sentence which is found – and I’ll return to it in a moment, but it’s found at page 32 of the decision.  But it’s only one single sentence in the decision.

      Now, what the Greenfield Energy Centre decision dealt with was an application by that entity for physical bypass.  And the Board, in making its decision, did not say – and I can’t underscore this enough – did not say that the outcome of the NGEIR decision will become a firewall against bypass; it will effectively prevent the operational bypass.

      What the Board said again and again and again throughout that decision is that the bypass applications would continue to be considered on a case-by-case basis.

      We have no way of knowing whether or not there will be bypass applications in the future.  And I’ll return to that point in a moment.  But I refer you, and you don’t need to turn it up, but I refer you to page 27 of that decision, in that portion of the decision.  I think it’s included in Mr. Thompson’s brief of materials – sorry?  
Tab 13 of Mr. Thompson’s brief of materials.  And it’s in a long section of the Board’s decision dealing with the question of how to wrestle with this policy issue of bypass.

      And the Board owns, beginning at the last full paragraph on page 27:

“We do agree that these long-term indirect factors are potential concerns.  However, these risks are more speculative than the assessment of the short-term impact.”
Then two sentences further down:

“More importantly, though, the adverse impacts can largely be managed by the Board and the utilities.”
And then, when you turn to page 28, the last full paragraph, the second sentence:

“One approval to bypass does not necessarily result in a flood of similar applications.  IGUA submitted that if GEC’s application is approved, then all large-volume gas users should be entitled to similar authorizations.  We find that such a sweeping conclusion would be contrary to the Board’s historic and continued approach to consider bypass on a case-by-case basis considering all of the circumstances.”
Bottom of page 29:

“The Board must necessarily be cautious when arriving at conclusions regarding future impacts both positive and negative of as yet unmade applications and possible developments.”
That there may be bypass applications, that there may not be bypass applications, that the outcome of the NGEIR proceeding may have some impact on them, is entirely, in my respectful submission, entirely speculative.

      Now, one of the ironies of the position taken by Mr. Thompson, he’s illustrated, if you would turn to the Enbridge Gas Distribution brief this morning.  And at tab 9 of that material you will find included in that an extract from the argument which my friend Mr. Thompson filed in the Greenfield Energy Centre application, the decision from which I just referred you to.

      And you’ll see in paragraph 2 of the submissions Mr. Thompson said as follows:

“The point IGUA wishes to emphasize pertains to the precedent implications of an order authorizing GEC to construct its proposed pipeline.  If such an order issues, then IGUA submits that in and all large-volume gas users for whom the most competitive pipeline distribution option is a stand-alone pipeline unconnected to the Union system will be similarly entitled to authorizations from the Board permitting them to construct their own distribution pipelines.”
Now, not to put too fine a glass on that that’s a threat.  It’s a simple threat to say that if you do this, there may be a flood of bypass applications.

      So we find ourselves having come 356 degrees on this, where the rates which are robust against bypass are, in effect, robust against Mr. Thompson’s clients making applications for bypass.

      In my respectful submission, the issue before you is simple, and it is, is it fair to have small-volume customers who are not the drivers for these rate changes, who are not the beneficiaries of these rate changes, pay some portion of it?  This is not, in my respectful submissions, a principled way to resolve what, in my respectful submission, is largely an intramural fight between those large-volume customers who will benefit from the changes they pressed for, as opposed to those who will not benefit from the changes.  And the resolution of the intramural fight shouldn’t be imposing some of those costs on residential consumers and general service customers.

     Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  
Mr. Moran, do you have any submissions?

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MORAN:
     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just briefly, APPrO has consistently said that the costs of service should be borne by those who benefit from those services, and Enbridge’s proposal, the 15 percent solution, I think, as it was described today, in my submission, is consistent with that principle.  And those are my submissions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.  Any other parties have submissions on this matter?  
Mr. DeVellis?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  As Mr. Warren has indicated, my client and others have elected to speak with one voice on this issue, and so I don’t have any other submissions except to say that we fully support the submissions of Mr. Warren.

     Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Ms. Sebalj, does Board Counsel have any submissions?

     MS. SEBALJ:  No, we don’t, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     [The Board confers.]

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  If you’ll give us half an hour, we’ll provide a decision on this matter.

     MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Chair, I’m sorry to interrupt.  I’m not sure how this motion is being styled, but to the extent that there is an opportunity for Enbridge to make a reply, we had two quick points to make.

     MR. KAISER:  I’m sorry.  I omitted that, please proceed.  


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STEVENS:
     MR. STEVENS:  Firstly, I just wanted to respond briefly to this suggestion that the standard of timely disclosure has not been met by Enbridge.  I won’t take you to the pages, but I just want to point out that, for example, on the issue of implementation costs, the initial evidence filed by Enbridge not just in the schedules but in the text, at B.3.3, page 3, spoke of a set-up cost of 2 to $300,000 and ongoing costs of 250 to $325,000 for the manual solution.  The settlement agreement itself talked about additional costs for nomination windows of 250,000 to $750,000 a year.  That takes us close to the estimate that’s in the letter.  As I understand it, the balance has to do the customer education piece that Ms. Sarnofsky talked about and that is in the settlement proposal itself.

      And so I think it’s highly unfair to suggest that we’ve been hiding this and we’ve sprung it on people at some time this morning.  That’s not true at all.

      Secondly, I wanted to speak a little bit about Mr. Thompson’s proposal that we wait and we assume that there’s no migration deficiency, and we don’t set rates at all based on a migration deficiency.  And for this I will ask you to please turn up the settlement agreement.  It’s in the brief that we’ve circulated, behind tab 3, if I could please ask you to turn up page 30.

      Subparagraph 4(f) on page 30 talks about this process that Mr. Thompson’s referred to that’s going to happen this fall in terms of customer education.  There’s a concern, and I think it’s warranted, that customers need to understand the impact of unbundling before making the decision.  So we talk about the process we’re going to go through.

      But the last sentence I want to draw your attention to there, it reads:

“As part of this process, the company will provide information to customers to allow them to better understand and evaluate the financial impact of making a decision to receive unbundled services.”

Our concern with Mr. Thompson’s proposal is that if none of these costs are reflected, none of the forecast migration impact is reflected in the rates, customers aren’t going to be in a position to make an informed decision as to whether it’s good for me to migrate or not good for me to migrate.  That information and the proper signals need to be given to customers.

      And additionally, I think it’s the company’s position that it defies reason to think that so many people have pushed so hard and for so long to have unbundled rates if nobody’s going to take them up.

      To start from the assumption that absolutely nobody’s going to take up these rates after so long has been spent on the issue is simply not reasonable, in our view.

      And the final, very brief point I want to make is in response to the suggestion that the impact on Rate 115 ought to be phased-in.

     I simply wanted to draw the distinction between the T-service credits issue that resulted in a phase-in of impact for Enbridge customers in the current situation.

      In the first situation, the impact was capped at 9 percent total bill impact per year over four years.  That is, up to 36 percent or more impact on a total bill basis was forecast.  That’s what led to a phase-in.

     In this case, Ms. Giridhar’s evidence this morning is that we’re looking at a 7 percent impact total.  Nowhere near this 36 percent or more.

      So in my submission, the need for a phase-in is not nearly the same as it was in that case.

     Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, could I respond to some of that, because I felt that it should have been said in-chief.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, please go ahead.


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  My understanding is, what we’re here to do is determine whether the small rate classes have any exposure to these two items, implementation costs and migration deficiencies.  I’d understood what we’re trying to do, we’re not trying to set the rate now at this – I thought we were going to deal with that at the end of the proceeding.

      But in terms of the migration deficiency, the forecast migration deficiency and leading to changes in rates, I’d just like to draw your attention to the Union case.  They didn’t go through that.  They didn’t have a forecast deficiency to jack up the rates to, in effect, force people off.  They developed their rates based on the unit costs.  They set them out there.  And customers made informed decisions.

      What the company is trying to get you to do is to bump up these rates in a manner that was not consistent with their initial filing.  It’s not at 15 percent.  And I submit we can deal with that better later, when we do have hard evidence of what the customers do in response to the information that is to be provided to them.

      This forecast at this stage, in my respectful submission, is not reliable, and should not be used by to the Board to, in effect, create a situation that could force people off.  The other aspect of that that I just want to emphasize is that there is deferral account protection in the agreement for this scenario where migration does actually occur.  It will go into accounts.  It will be collected from the people, from the classes where they actually migrate.  So my suggestion is, the zero assumption at this particular stage is most appropriate, and that in their 2007 rate case they will have some information, and we will have some information that we can help the Board with this topic.  Thank you very much.

     MR. KAISER:  And that last matter is totally independent of whether the small customers bear any portion of this or not.

     MR. THOMPSON:  That’s right.  If it’s small, I think it just stays in the classes.  But if it’s a big amount, like – my friend mentioned in the phase-in scenario, then there’s an argument that it should be more broadly based.  But whether it stays with within the 100, 110, 115 subgroup or a larger group, we can deal with that later.

      But actually setting rates now to stimulate migration, I suggest, is inappropriate.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  
We’ll come back in a half an hour.

--- Recess taken at 2:09 p.m.         

     --- On resuming at 2:48 p.m.

     RULING:
     MR. KAISER:  At the outset of this proceeding, a motion was brought jointly by the Consumers’ Council and IGUA, raising a threshold issue that the parties wish to have decided before the Board dealt with the approval or non-approval of the settlement agreement with respect to Enbridge in this matter.

      And that was set out at page 8 of 34 of the settlement agreement, which was filed on June 13th.  And that’s Exhibit S, tab 1, schedule 1, which stated:

               “A threshold issue which the Board is asked to consider at the outset of the oral hearing is whether the changes to Rates 125 and 300 should be made only after the issue pertaining to the allocation of implementation costs and migration revenue deficiencies has been decided; or whether changes to Rates 125 and 300 can be made now, on an entirely without-prejudicial basis to all parties, including the establishment of the appropriate deferral accounts with the consideration and determination of all matters relevant to the recovery of the costs and revenue deficiencies in the Enbridge Gas Distribution 2007 rate case.”
And as you’re aware, we decided that this matter should not be deferred to the 2007 rate case, and we agreed to decide that threshold issue, which we’re now prepared to deal with.

      The issue in the simplest terms is whether these costs, as described, the implementation costs and the migration costs, should be borne entirely by the large volume customers or whether some portion of them should be borne by the residential customers.  AMPCO, IGUA, and CME take the position that some portion should be borne by the residential customers.

      Enbridge, supported by the Consumers’ Council and APPrO, take the position that the costs should be borne entirely be to the large volume customers.  Board Counsel takes no position on the matter.

      With respect to the implementation costs, these are set out most recently in the letter of July 13th, which was filed with the Board today and was addressed in argument today.  And those relate to the costs of a manual system, it being the wish of the parties that they wish to take up service earlier rather than later, and therefore, in order to accommodate that, it will be necessary to develop a manual system prior to ultimately implementing an automatic system.

      And those costs, as I say, are laid out, including start-up one-time costs ranging from $600,000 to $875,000, and then ongoing operating costs, annual costs, ranging from $300,000 to $825,000.

      With respect to the latter, we’re now told that a significant portion of that relates to the cost of nomination windows, and those costs will be born specifically by those parties that take advantage of that service.

     As a general proposition, the Board is of the view that the record has established that the drivers for this service, that is, the demanders of this service, are the large volume customers.  Mr. Warren has taken us through a litany of cases and arguments in previous proceedings where various parties were demanding of the utility to produce these unbundled services which are at issue in this proceeding, and complaining about the delay with respect to their lack of development.

      And it is equally clear that those customers are the main beneficiaries of these services.

      Accordingly the Board is of the view that it would be inappropriate for the residential customers to bear any portion of these costs.

      Reference was made to a Union case which dealt with unbundled service.  That is the decision of the Board of July 31st, 2002, which dealt with unbundling services and rates for small-volume customers.  The Board would note that that did relate to small-volume customers.  Those services had a particularly broad-based demand which is not the situation in this case.  These are much narrower services, clearly designed to benefit the large volume customers, which was not the case with respect to the decision of July 31st, 2002.

      That, then, brings us to the second aspect of the cost, which is the cost consequences of the movement of certain customers from Rate 115 to Rate 125 and Rate 300.  We have a forecast of the number of customers who might move, and, in fact, the billing system is being designed to handle a maximum of 20.  The proposal put forward by Enbridge is that ten of those would be the ten largest customers and the other ten would be chosen by lottery.

     That yields certain cost consequences which are set out in the proposal that Enbridge has filed, which is that, assuming no smoothing, the distribution impacts on the Rate 100, 110, and 115 customers would be 2 percent, 1 percent, and 38 percent respectively.  Those figures are somewhat modified from earlier figures presented in this proceeding.

      There has been a proposal put forward by Enbridge with respect to smoothing that would cap, if you will, the cost consequences or rate increase impacts on Rate 115 and spread it over the other groups.  That’s dealt with in the Enbridge proposal.

      The Board is of the view that we do not at this point need to consider whether the smoothing process is appropriate or not.  We are of the view, however, that the cost consequences of these rates are relatively low, and I use the word “relatively” advisedly.  The Enbridge proposal says the corresponding bill impacts, excluding commodity costs, on Rates 100, 110, and 115 would be .6 percent, .2 percent, and 7 percent respectively.  That’s without the smoothing.  And with smoothing it becomes 1 percent, .5 percent, and 2.7 percent respectively.  As stated, we are not making a decision with respect to the smoothing at this point.  It’s our understanding that there will be further submissions made in this proceeding with respect to that aspect.

      In any event, our position with respect to this category of the costs is the same as with the first, that is to say that none of the costs should be appropriately borne by the small residential customers.  Instead, they should all be borne by the large volume customers.  Those are the parties that requested this service.  And those are the parties that will benefit from this service.

      Subject to any questions, that completes the Board’s ruling.

      Ms. Chaplin corrects me.  I think I used the term “large industrial.”  Substitute “large volume customers” because there are, obviously, customer categories within there that are not industrials, namely, the power generators and others.

      Any questions?  All right.  
Do we have a panel coming up?

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  Enbridge Inc.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stevens?

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:
     MR. STEVENS:  If we could just have your indulgence for one moment, Panel, we just have one small matter to discuss.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  I should say, this may be what you’re coming to, I want to come back to Mr. Brown, who is no doubt to going to jump on me if I don’t mention it in any event.  
On this basis the settlement agreement is approved.  And I’m assuming, Mr. Brown, given your prior discussion, that takes care of your concerns.

     MR. BROWN:  I believe it does.

     MR. KAISER:  I don’t need to do through all the other stuff and the reservations. 

     MR. BROWN:  While Mr. Stevens is conferring with his client, perhaps I could raise one procedural matter, we’ve been having discussions with Board Counsel about what’s going to unfold next week at the end of the hearing, and we’ve been advised that there’s a tentative plan or some discussion about some witness from BP appearing to testify at the Board request.

     We’ve heard various things about it, and I know in the transcript where you extended the invitation, or the request, you indicated that the Board would have some questions for a witness and the proceeding might be in-camera.  
     I guess some of us had discussed it, and we would like to have some guidance from the Board or some opportunity to make submissions to the Board if the decision of the Board is to hold it in-camera.  So that would be one issue, because there are some practical implications of that.

     And then the second would be; what are these witnesses going to be talking about?  There’s been no pre-filed evidence.  If it’s a matter of expanding on Board questions, I think some of us would like to make some submissions on some mechanism being put in place so that we can know in advance what sort of evidence we’re going to be expecting from the BP witnesses.

     I’m not asking that it necessarily be done now.  It could be done Monday, but that’s a topic for discussion that some of us are interested in.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, let me just – we can certainly hear any submissions you might have on the procedure we intend to adopt, and we’ll come to that in a moment.  I might want to consider it over the weekend.  But you might recall we didn’t ask BP to present evidence.  We asked them to produce a witness to answer certain questions from the Board.  So my guess is that they’re probably not intending to file any evidence.  
In terms of our questions, I think it should be straightforward, and that is, we are interested in determining how important marketers are in this market that we’ve described, whether it’s the Ontario market or the Ontario/Michigan market, or whatever the geographical market is, and the extent to which they face barriers.  You’ve heard evidence as to certain transportation barriers that prevent these markets from being unified, and the extent to which, in their view, competition is growing.

     So it’s really just a – much of this is in evidence now.  There is all kinds of evidence on these issues.  There are no new issues.

     So I would contemplate they would proceed on the basis, that the Panel Members will have certain questions.  We weren’t suggesting that even our counsel would necessarily have questions, although she may.  And if she does, that’s fine.

     And if you have any questions, my understanding is BP’s prepared to answer any questions you may have that you wish to clarify, but we were not going to suggest that they should have any form of pre-filed evidence.

     We did send to them, for the reasons that you’ll be aware, the possibility of an in-camera hearing.  They are concerned about commercial sensitivity.  I think Board Counsel is working out with you whatever document counsel have to sign to participate in that.  And if there are any issues with respect to that, I guess we can deal with them as they arise.

     MR. BROWN:  There may well be one practical issue on the latter point.  In discussions with my client, I’ve ascertained that some of them have had conversations with BP, and it may well be that if the subject matter of the conversation may come up – but it may well be the specific conversation comes up, I’m not sure – certainly I would want to have the opportunity to consult with my client about what BP has said prior to cross-examining.  The undertakings of confidentiality normally allow counsel in the room but not necessarily the client.  So that’s a practical problem that I face.

     I mean, certainly an authorized representative of one of my clients can sign the confidentiality undertaking, but I will have to have some ability to communicate what BP has said in order to be able to conduct an appropriate cross-examination.

     MR. KAISER:  So let me understand.  You would want to be able to communicate to your client this, and this only, that the BP witness said X, and he could advise you –
     MR. BROWN:  We could do – BP would say, we can do “A”, and I would want to be able to say to my client, well, they say that they can do “A”.  And if the client said, Well, gee, they told us they said they couldn’t do “A”, that would be something I would want to put to them in cross.

     MR. KAISER:  But your communication to your client about what your heard in the in-camera hearing would be limited to statements that the BP people said related to conversations with your client.

     MR. BROWN:  Precisely.

     MR. KAISER:  Yeah.  Well, I think we can probably accommodate you on that.  
Mr. Thompson?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I was just going to adopt what Mr. Brown said.  I’d have to get instructions from my client as well, as to this issue, and I’d like to reserve my rights to, I guess, consider and perhaps address whether an in-camera proceeding is appropriate for BP.  I’m just not clear why it has to be in in-camera.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I think the “why” is, they’re not prepared to testify otherwise.  You know, we’ve gone through this, I think you examined on it, the famous e-mail with everything.  And only one of the six, if I’ve got the number right, would respond, and then only if everything was redacted.

     And the situation the Board is in is, at the end of the day, we would just like to get the facts.  And this has turned out to be an important piece, and we can’t seem to get the answers out of the horse’s mouth.  And the only way we can get at least one of the horses here is to offer them some form of confidentiality protection.

     So it’s not our preferred procedure, and I recognize it’s unusual.

     MS. SEBALJ:  If I just might interject as well.  The purpose of the in-camera session is, of course, to have any confidential information that may come out be protected, but it’s not the intention to make the entire proceeding confidential.  The process, the procedure, is to have a full transcript which is then redacted.  And the intention is for the redaction of that to be as limited as possible.  So in other words, the less confidential information, the better.

     So not everything in the proceeding will necessarily ultimately not be divulged on the public record.  It’s a matter of what actually occurs in the room as to how much of it is ultimately confidential.

     But in terms of being able to consult with clients as to what happens in the room, I think that that’s something we’ll have to discuss.  But it does sort of change the complexion of an in-camera session to a no longer in-camera section.

     MR. KAISER:  I don’t think that’s what Mr. Brown was suggesting.  He’s not asking to talk to his client about everything going on in the room.  He was specifically asking for authorization that if BP says they talked to his client and said “X”, he can verify with his client that indeed they did say “X” as opposed to “Y”.  
It was that narrow disclosure, was it not, Mr. Brown?

     MR. BROWN:  Yes, or if BP is asserting that they can offer service “A”, and in a conversation with my client they said they couldn’t offer service “A”, that they could be challenged on that.  But it would be that narrow.  It’s not on the general stuff; it’s very fact-specific.

     MR. KAISER:  And, you know, these are experienced counsel, Ms. Sebalj.  I think we can trust them to respect the confidentiality.  They understand the ground rules.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I was just going to take it a bit further, Mr. Chairman.  If BP says we can do “A”, could I get instructions from my client as to whether “A” is accurate and cross-examine them on it?  It may have nothing to do with conversations with anybody, it might just be a fact that we disagree with.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, you’re entitled to cross-examine them.
     MR. THOMPSON:  But speak to my client about the fact?  That’s where I’m a little, I guess, unclear as to what we can take back to the client.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, at this point I would limit it to what I’m going to call Mr. Brown’s scope.  There will be certain facts, and you’ll be briefed by your client as to the general nature of what goes on.  You may hear something come from BP, that there are transportation constraints, and you say that’s a crock, and you can examine him, and cross-examine him.  But the disclosure that we’re talking about, that Mr. Brown requested, is a very narrow one, where they say something on the record that relates to a particular conversation with his client, and he wants the ability to verify with his client that indeed the person said that.

     That’s the only point that we’re agreeing to at this point.  But, you know, I hope you’ll trust us that we’re trying to work through a difficult situation as best we can.

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I could speak to a slightly different issue.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, certainly.

     MR. WARREN:  And it’s this.  Let me put it in this perspective.  One of the, if I can put it – one of the anomalies of this proceeding is that there has been, to this point, no active involvement by the marketers, by the principal participants in the secondary market.  And I appreciate the difficulty that the Board is in the same difficulty we’re all in, it’s trying to get a handle on what exactly the secondary market consists of, and who’s involved, and what it means, and so on and so forth.  And there have been various assertions by others on both sides of the various arguments about what goes on in the secondary market.

     What we’re going to get now, at the end of the day, and I understand why the Board wants to wrestle with this – what we’re going to get at the end of the day is one marketer’s view of this thing.  And the danger, as I’m sure the Board can appreciate, is that it may be limited, it may be self-serving, it may be skewed.  And without our knowing in advance what they’re going to say, any cross-examination is going to be, to a greater extent that would ordinarily be the case, we are going to be flying by the seat of our pants.  And the risk is we’re going – the danger is a very distorted, limited view of what’s a critical issue.

     Now, one of the views that my client will take at the end of the day is that there is an onus on the proponents of forbearance, particularly the utilities, to lead evidence.  And that evidence should have included evidence about the secondary market, if they’re relying on that.  
     So I’m not sure, as I sit here today, what the resolution of the issue of my concern is, I simply want to alert the Board to the fact that I am concerned.  I’m not being critical of the Board for wanting this information, I am concerned about the potential for distortion that may arise from getting evidence in limited circumstances from only one marketer.

     I’m not sure how to deal with it.  I’ve presented you with a concern.  I don’t know how to deal with it, but I wanted to raise it.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  I appreciate that.  
Thank you, Mr. Warren.

     Are we ready with the next panel?

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.

     MR. HOWE:  Mr. Chairman, Members of the Panel, my name Robert Howe.  I act on behalf of Enbridge Inc., and I have with me this afternoon Mr. Robert Craig, who is prepared to be sworn at this point in time.

     ENBRIDGE INC. – PANEL 1:

     Robert Craig; Sworn.

     EXAMINATION BY MR. HOWE:
     MR. HOWE:  Mr. Craig, you are the director of gas storage for Enbridge Inc.; is that correct?

     MR. CRAIG:  Yes.

     MR. HOWE:  And you have been the director of gas storage for Enbridge Inc. since 2001; is that correct?
     MR. CRAIG:  Yes.

     MR. HOWE:  And your more extensive CV is set out as part of your pre-filed evidence; is that correct?

     MR. CRAIG:  Yes.

     MR. HOWE:  And you filed pre-filed evidence which is dated May the 1st, 2006; correct?

     MR. CRAIG:  Yes.

     MR. HOWE:  And you attended and gave evidence in front of the Technical Conference on May 18, 2006; correct?

     MR. CRAIG:  Yes.

     MR. HOWE:  And an undertaking was – rather a response to an undertaking was prepared and submitted by you, and that was on June 2, 2006; is that correct?

     MR. CRAIG:  Yes, that’s correct.

     MR. HOWE:  Do you adopt the pre-filed evidence, the evidence at the Technical Conference, and your answer to the undertaking as your evidence in this case?

     MR. CRAIG:  Yes, I do.

     MR. HOWE:  Now, during the Technical Conference on May 18, you were given the status of EEDI’s storage in the province.  Can you tell me whether or not there’s been any change in that situation since you were last with us on May 18?

     MR. CRAIG:  Yes.  I’d like to give some background information and update a project that we’d be working on with respect to storage development.

     A key project that we have been working on for the last several years involves the production or removal of large volumes of brine from an existing pinnacle reef in Southwestern Ontario.  The purposes of removing the brine was to create space for gas storage.  

In 2001, we drilled a well into a reef with an idea of finding commercial quantities of gas and potentially a gas storage reservoir at the end of the day.  The result was that, while we found the top 10 percent, approximately, of the reef contained gas, the other 90 percent contained brine.

     Now, when I say brine, that’s a formation fluid.  It’s basically water with dissolved salts, such as calcium chloride, sodium chloride, magnesium chloride, and other constituents, but mainly those.  So the result was that we had a reef that, at the time, the gas reserves were uneconomic to produce, and we had a fairly large quantity of brine.

     And to try to make something out of that situation, we went around looking for a customer, or someone who would take the brine off our hands, because it’s normally a product that you have to dispose of.

     And in 2002, we located a company that was interested in brine.  We conducted a pilot test to confirm the quality of the brine and the producibility of this particular reef in the brine zone.  And the results were favourable enough that we went ahead over the 2003-2004 period, drilled additional wells, installed facilities, and commenced productions of large volumes of brine, with a view to creating void space in this particular reef.

     Unfortunately, early in 20005, the company that we were delivering brine to went into financial hardship and filed for creditor protection under the CCAA act and were unable to restructure, such that in late 2005, about seven months ago, they went into receivership.  There were a couple of parties that looked at trying to buy them and, you know, re-establish the taking of brine and their calcium chloride business, but that didn’t happen.

     Since then, we have had discussions with a number of different companies to get a replacement party that would take this brine off our hands so we could continue with this project.  That was definitely the situation in May, when we submitted our evidence in the Technical Conference.  We had a customer that looked like they were going to replace and take these large volumes of brine.

     Unfortunately, about two weeks ago, they made a decision that they are not going to proceed.

     So I guess the update is that.  If they had taken the brine at the rates they were going to take it, we felt that we would have had a storage project that would have come forth certainly within the next 5 years, and which was one that we would have brought to the Board within that time frame.

     The update is that, as of two weeks ago, that is less certain as to whether that’s going to happen within the five-year time frame or not.  We will still pursue removal of brine if we can find someone who will take it.  But at this point in time, it’s not certain that that’s going to happen within that time frame.

     Beyond this particular pool, we have another pool that we have tested that has suitable brine, if we can find a customer or somebody who will take it, and we also have a third pool that we haven’t tested at this point.

     So these are some fairly large pinnacle reefs that will be excellent storage candidates if we can simply create the void space in them through the removal of brine.

     But as to what’s happened in the interim, two weeks ago, we were advised that the party we thought was going to take large volumes of brine has backed away from that.
     MR. HOWE:  Now, Mr. Craig, how does that change in circumstances affect, if at all, Enbridge Inc.’s position as set out in your pre-filed evidence with respect to forbearance.

     MR. CRAIG:  I’d have to say that, no, that remains our position.  This storage initiative, in particular this brine removal project, is a long lead time, a risky project.  It’s high costs.  And in our view the project will take forbearance to allow it to continue or to attempt to allow it to continue and move forward in the future.

      So our position with respect to if we bring forth a pool would be that we would continue to do it and seek forbearance for the development of that pool.

     MR. HOWE:  Thank you, Mr. Craig.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I have no further questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Thompson, did you have questions?

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I just have a couple of questions, Mr. Craig.

      During the Technical Conference, you and I discussed the storage development potential in Ontario.  And I think you indicated it was up to about 50 Bcf, in your view; is that right?

     MR. CRAIG:  Well, I think you gave me a range of 150 down to 50, and I said, in my view 50 would probably be a more realistic number with respect to the pinnacle reef belt.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And Mr. Grant, as I recall his testimony the other day – do you know Mr. Grant of Enbridge Gas Distribution?

     MR. CRAIG:  Yes, I do.

     MR. THOMPSON:  As I understood him, he indicated that about 10 Bcf was, I guess he put it in the “probable” category, and that beyond that it’s perhaps questionable.

     First of all, is that a fair paraphrase of his evidence, or have you read it?

     MR. CRAIG:  I haven’t read his evidence per se, that where – he said that 10 Bcf was probable?
     MR. THOMPSON:  That’s my interpretation of what he said, yes.

     MR. CRAIG:  Well –
     MR. THOMPSON:  What do you regard as probable?

     MR. CRAIG:  First of all, I haven’t done a study to say what is there or what isn’t there.  I guess from – I can speak from two things.  One is what I’ve heard at this hearing, which is that Market Hub Partners has two pools with roughly 6 Bcf of undeveloped capacity that they propose to bring forward.  I think their target is to have 10 Bcf by 2010, so they may have some other prospects that I’m not aware of.

      I am aware of the Tribute Tipperary pool up in the Goderich area, which people have mentioned in this proceeding.  And I am aware that Tribute have a number of other pools up there that potentially could be brought forward for storage development.  I’m not exactly sure; I’ve heard a number of 10 Bcf, 12 Bcf, and beyond that there’s a Northern Cross Pool, which is just north of Goderich.  They have a little bit of a challenge insofar as the pipeline constraints, getting the gas to Dawn.  But certainly, in time, I think those pools will be developed.

      The pools that I spoke of collectively, if the brine could be removed from those pools, we’re talking in the order of 20, perhaps 25 Bcf of storage capacity.  So they would be a significant addition.

      Beyond that, what might be found by way of additional exploration in the pinnacle reef belt is what I’ve been speaking of right now.

      Now, beyond the pinnacle reef belt there hasn’t been a lot of storage that’s been developed in Ontario.  Enbridge Gas Distribution has the only sandstone pool that is in the Niagara peninsula, the Crowland pool.  It’s a small pool, and it’s strategically located within their franchise area.

      Sandstone pools are a bit more costly to develop because they require additional volumes of cushion gas, but, with market rates, it’s not to say that somebody might proceed to develop some of those pools.

      The time frame I’m not sure.  But there is potential in other pools beyond the pinnacle reef belt.

      But as I say, I haven’t done a study to quantify that number, and my company hasn’t done a study to quantify that number.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. DeVellis, anything?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, briefly, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Craig, I couldn’t tell from your evidence whether it’s your view that the proposed storage pools that EEDI would be developing would not have market power because they’re too small – their market share would be too small, or whether – well, let’s leave it at that.

     MR. CRAIG:  I think that the evidence that we pre-filed and the position that we take is that we would bring forth these pools without developing with any help from or subsidy or benefit from Enbridge Gas Distribution or its customers, and we would view ourselves as being no different than a Tribute, who, while Tribute isn’t affiliated, they’re in a position where they don’t have any other storage.

      We don’t have any other storage.  Enbridge Inc. does not have any other storage other than, you know, the gas distribution utility has storage.  But as EEDI, we do not have any other storage.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And are you aware that for the purposes of determining market share, FERC requires that an applicant, for market-based rates, aggregate its storage capacity with that of its affiliates?

     MR. CRAIG:  I’m not aware of that, no.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And would you have any reason to suggest we shouldn’t follow the same methodology here in Ontario?

     MR. CRAIG:  I guess, if you look at it and you’ve got ourselves, you know, EEDI and Market Hub Partners, and to the extent that we don’t have market power in and of ourselves, and the Board wants to stimulate storage development in Ontario, I guess, you know, in my own case, I have some expertise in terms of storage development that perhaps a Tribute doesn’t have.

      So, if the Board feels that there’s a reason to allow an affiliate to develop storage because of some knowledge that it has, then I would say maybe it should have a different rule than they have in the States.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And the other point that you make in your evidence is that you require – in order to establish a level playing field, that all storage should be at market-based rates and shouldn’t have some storage at cost-based and some storage at market-based rates.

      And as I understand it, one of the drivers being put forward for moving to market-based rates is this alleged need to provide an incentive to develop additional storage, which would imply that there isn’t enough storage in the market at present to meet the demand.  Wouldn’t you agree with that?

     MR. CRAIG:  Sorry.  Could you rephrase that?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, one of the drivers, one of the arguments that we’ve heard, is that we require market-based rates in order to provide incentive to develop additional storage.  If that’s the case, then what that implies is that there isn’t enough storage at cost-based rates to meet the demand in the market.

     MR. CRAIG:  That’s probably true, but I think what’s also true is that today, in today’s environment, you can’t develop storage for – with the current cost of cushion gas and the development costs, for traditional cost-based rates.  So you’re pretty close to the level of market when you’re developing new storage, at least in many instances.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I guess what I was getting at, though, is, if you were developing storage to meet excess demand, then it wouldn’t matter if there was a cost-based rate out there, because you would be meeting a demand that presumably would not be met under the cost-based rate structure?

     MR. CRAIG:  You mean if there’s a certain segment of the market that’s being supplied by rent controls, if you like, and then the excess apartments are being built because there are just no other apartments around there.  So to that extent, I guess – let’s take Tribute.  They’re competing with some market-based rate that is out there.  But the size of the market that is being supplied by market-based rate is not as big as if it was all at market-based rates.  The whole market would be bigger, I guess.  
You’ve basically got a hybrid market now, with part of it being as cost, and part of it being at market.

      But I should qualify myself, because I’m not a market expert.  My expertise has been in storage development.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And do you understand that some U.S. jurisdictions, such as Michigan, do have a combination of cost-based rates and market-based rates?

     MR. CRAIG:  I believe they do, yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Ms. Sebalj.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. SEBALJ:
     MS. SEBALJ:  I just have a few questions, Mr. Craig.  My name is Kristi Sebalj.  Just to follow up on your discussion with Mr. Thompson, your evidence at the Technical Conference was with respect to what sounded like a total of four reefs, two of which are -- I won't call them proven but they're somewhat more certain than the other two; is that correct?

     MR. CRAIG:  That's correct.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And so the number that you provided to Mr. Thompson was somewhere in the range of 20 to 25 Bcf, and I think you said collectively.  Did you mean the four or the two that are more certain?

     MR. CRAIG:  No, collectively.  The four.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Can you just elaborate a little bit on what the key factors would be in your business decision to develop incremental storage in Ontario, and in particular, the importance of those factors in the development of the -- I keep wanting to call them proven reefs but the more certain of the four reefs?  

I think you've said that through your counsel you've said that you need market-based rates or full forbearance.  Is that the crux of it, or what is it that will allow you to develop this incremental storage?

     MR. CRAIG:  I think that Enbridge will -- I mean, we went into this project with a view -- well, we drilled the wells, and we drilled other exploratory wells looking for reservoirs that would be suitable for storage.  In this one I've described to you, we ended up with a thin gas zone underlain by several hundred feet of brine.  And when we undertook to try to empty it, I think -- I would have to say the view was that hopefully by the time we get there, there will be an environment in Ontario that would allow the development of these types of things by an affiliate, at a market type rate, or under forbearance.

      There's also the proposition that we could get a pool that was empty, and we brought that application forward and were denied that request.  And then we're faced with, well, what do we do with it then?  Do we develop it or do we sell it, attempt to sell it to someone who may be interested in developing it?

     But I think we, you know, to go back and say, why did we embark on this, it was the view that Ontario's going to need some more storage.  This is a riskier business than Enbridge Gas Distribution should be in, because they're not going to be allowed to recover the costs of drilling and producing brine wells.  We're doing it outside of regulation at the risk of the shareholder, obviously.  But if we're successful at the end of the day, hopefully we could make a case in front of the Board to allow this to be developed under a forbearance scenario.

     MS. SEBALJ:  If I just take you briefly to your undertaking, in that undertaking you, I think, provide a list of the Enbridge affiliates and subsidiaries.

     MR. CRAIG:  Yes.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I'm just wondering how you would envision the development of the storage transpiring, particularly with respect to transportation or other services that Enbridge Inc. as a storage operator might acquire from any of the other affiliates.  Has the business plan advanced that far, or can you tell me?

     MR. CRAIG:  Well, two of the three brine-filled reefs -- if I call them brine filled, essentially the majority are brine-filled -- are very close to Dawn.  They're within 6, 7 miles of Dawn.  So we had envisaged them to be tied in, connected directly to Dawn, with an Enbridge Inc. pipeline, if you like, so that -- and that was the advantage of looking at them, is that there wasn't a lot of pipelining to be done to deliver that storage gas to Dawn.

      The third one is actually closer to Union Gas' facilities, and one might have to try to go to them and seek some kind of an M16 type service to move that gas to Dawn.

      But we wouldn't be looking to any of these affiliates to provide pipelining or any assistance to develop these pools, no.  And nor would we be looking to develop them through Enbridge Gas Distribution's facilities.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I think you spoke of four pools and you've talked about two, three, and then the third.  Is the fourth just so far off that it's not --

     MR. CRAIG:  Well, the 4th is not a brine filled pool.  It's actually a gas pool that we discovered.  It's a smaller pool, and in and by itself, it is not big enough to develop for storage, but it's located along the pipeline route that the brine-filled pools would be connected to Dawn.

      So in that regard it piggybacks on the economics and benefit of developing the other two.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.

     Would you contemplate having a relationship with your affiliates, a contractual relationship for the sale of storage.

     MR. CRAIG:  I think what we would do, and that's, I think, similar to what Market Hub Partners said, is conduct an open season and hopefully get customers that, for reasons that we didn't have to explain before this Board, were somebody other than an affiliate.  So it would be an open season, and if some of the power generators were interested in the service or some of the industrial customers, we'd be happy to... and would probably prefer to do it that way.

     MS. SEBALJ:  But you wouldn't preclude Enbridge Gas Distribution from bidding for that storage?

     MR. CRAIG:  If they wanted to participate in the open-season RFP-type situation, I guess they would have every right.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And do you have any view as to whether the Affiliate Relationship Code for gas utilities is a sufficient mechanism to deal with that, in the event that it happens, or... we've asked MHP similar questions about whether it needs stronger reinforcement or whether it's sufficient as it stands.

     MR. CRAIG:  Yes, I have no view on that.  I've read the document, but not with respect to that.  I mean, it may be checks and balances that are put in place, if, as, and when we bring a storage application, and, you know, how that gets reviewed.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you, Mr. Craig.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. RUPERT
     MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Craig, let me ask you a question that you may throw back to me. but I wanted to get your view as an Enbridge Inc. person.

      You're, I'm sure, well aware of what we've heard in this hearing from both Union, Enbridge, Enbridge Inc., of course, and Market Hub Partners, and if I can summarize it this way.

      Union Gas has effectively told us, that, in my view, anyway, forbearance or not, they're not looking to develop much storage in this province.  That's what I've taken from what I've heard.

      Market Hub Partners, the Duke, Union affiliate, of course, as it is, interested in developing storage in the rate environment.

      Your affiliate, Enbridge Inc. -- Enbridge Gas Distribution, excuse me, is taking a bit different approach.  When Mr. Grant was here, you know, saying you're looking hard at doing some things as Tecumseh, but it's not at all certain –- there are technical issues and there and some other things.  But you're as a group in Ontario looking at developing storage.

      As an employee of Enbridge Inc. what's your perspective on this?  Are we being told by the incumbent utilities that for whatever reason developing storage within a utility in Ontario these days is over, that the owners of these utilities may want to develop storage through other vehicles, but that, as owners of utilities that own substantial storage, development within those entities is really not on anymore?  
     MR. CRAIG:  It would probably be an easier question for Enbridge Gas Distribution to answer than... I mean, I was involved with Enbridge Gas Distribution when they developed every pool from 1974 to 2001, and, you know, but there were pools out there that we bought, acquired in some fashion in the marketplace, and, you know, the big ones were developed and then got into the smaller ones and developed those.

      I think it's a tougher game today because, you know, the pools are smaller; they're more remote; they're more difficult to develop; they have some challenges; and the costs are higher.  
      Why they've chosen, it's availability of pools, and, you know, that's one of the reasons why we embarked on an exploration program, thinking that, okay, maybe we can find something out there that other people have overlooked.  We have drilled a number of exploratory wells, really only came one the one that is a gas pool, and this other one that has some gas in it but is largely brine-filled.

      So maybe it’s the nature of the risk that has evolved that you have to go out there and do some exploration, and, you know, as I look at -- it was Consumers Gas at the time, but we were in the exploration, and production was a part of our rate base from approximately 1976 to about 1986, and we had activities in Lake Erie, and on land in Southwestern Ontario, and it was put in to encourage us to do those activities.

      But by 1986 there was enough gas supply around in Canada that the exploration activities were removed from rate base.  And I'm not sure that the Board wants to go back to that era.  But... sorry.

     MR. HOWE:  Yes, Mr. Rupert, maybe I can help out.  And certainly I don't mean to speak for EGD, but I can recall the days when exploration and development were part of what was then called Consumers Gas.  And we'd attend the annual rate case.  And there was always a lot of criticism about the exploration and development being part of the utility.  And eventually, I think it was in case 403, in the year 1986, where the Board actually ordered the company to divest itself from its exploration and storage development area.

      So, from the perspective of Enbridge Inc., it's a little easier because it's been in this business as a result of the Board saying END cannot be part of the utility business.

     I hope that sort of gives it some historical context.

     MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.

     [The Board confers.]

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Craig, this activity that you're describing by Enbridge Inc., is that a new activity?

     MR. CRAIG:  We've been doing that since 2002.

     MR. KAISER:  And what motivated you to get into this business in 2002?

     MR. CRAIG:  We had a fairly significant size pinnacle reef with very limited gas zone.  And we had been looking 
-- actually, we had been looking for a way to get rid of some brine from some salt caverns.  And the problem with the salt cavern brine is it's a sodium brine, sodium chloride, which is like table salt or food-grade salt.  And there's a lot of it in the marketplace, and it's very difficult to get rid of.  In talking to that customer, we twigged on to the idea, well, we have some other brine, would you be interested in looking at that?  And that's when the discussion started that they said, well, if you can supply this kind of brine, we need large volumes of it.  And I mean large volumes.  And then that's when we twigged onto the idea that we can empty this reservoir, this pinnacle reef reservoir, in a reasonable time frame to make it useable for gas storage.

      And I guess had that party not gone into CCAA protection and receivership last year, we probably would have been here with an application within two years, because they were taking very large volumes of brine.

     MR. KAISER:  Are you looking for storage outside of Ontario?

     MR. CRAIG:  I would have to say yes, but not overly actively.  I mean, there are parties outside of myself in Ontario that are looking elsewhere, but from my perspective, I --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I meant the company, not you personally.

     MR. CRAIG:  They have an interest in it, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  There's been some discussion in these proceedings about the cost of new storage compared to the cost of old storage, storage that was developed back in the days when you were -- do you have any view on that, as to whether the cost of developing new storage is significantly above the cost of the storage that's typically in rate base?

     MR. CRAIG:  Yes, I do.  And there are a couple of factors for that.

      One is a lot of the reefs that were developed, and I can kind of give you the ballpark number, but the average size of a pinnacle reef that was developed for storage in Ontario pre-1990 was in the range of 10 to 15 Bcf in size.  Ten to 17, actually.  So you had the economies of scale in terms of a larger size reefs.

      The average size of a reef that's been developed from 1990 to, oh, let's say the last 15 years or the last 10, or up 'til 2001, I think, was the last one, has been around 3 Bcf in size.

      So you still need pipelines, you still need wells, you still need compression, but you're working with something that's a bigger warehouse, if you like, that needs -- but it still needs -- the smaller ones still need some of the same facilities.

      The second reason is that, with the some of the smaller ones, they've been a little more remote from existing facilities so you've got longer pipeline tie-ins. 

     But probably by and large the biggest factor is the cost of base pressure gas.  Historically, if you look at Enbridge Gas Distribution's rate base, and I knew these numbers years ago, but the average cost of base pressure gas was less than a dollar an Mcf.  Well, if you're developing a pool today, and you're buying gas at $8 or $10 an Mcf, you still need the same amount of base gas.  It's huge in terms of that cost.  

     And, you know, that plus the more remoteness, the smaller size of the pools, the economies of scale, is what drives up the cost of storage development today well above what it has been historically.

     MR. KAISER:  And in the cost of operating a storage operation, how significant to the proportion of total costs is the cushion gas cost?  Is it 10 percent of the costs or 50 percent of the cost?

     MR. CRAIG:  Historically, it might have been -- well, if Tecumseh has roughly 30 Bcf of cushion gas and it was in there at a buck, that's $30 million in their total rate base; it's a hundred, close to $200 million.  So it might have been 30 on 200.

      Well, today, if you develop a pool, a pinnacle reef pool, for storage, and it's costing you $10  -- or $8 for the gas, it's probably 50 percent of the rate base.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Howe.  Anything further, Ms. Sebalj?

     MS. SEBALJ:  Just a few announcements, for what they're worth.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Howe, did you have any re-examination?

     MR. HOWE:  No, thank you, sir.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Subject to what the panel, I don't know that we've settled on this, but starting time, Monday, 9 a.m.; is that appropriate?

     MR. KAISER:  Nine a.m. is fine.

     MS. SEBALJ:  We'll be in room S1.  And I just wanted to remind people that the IGUA and AMPCO panel have been added to the Thursday schedule.  I'm assuming we'll be sending a revised schedule.  At some point I'll also put that on the hot line and we'll send it by e-mail.  And also just so that people know too, it's still tentative but it's getting further by the moment that there will be a Wednesday evening sitting of this in-camera session, somewhere around 5 p.m., for two to three hours.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Nine o'clock Monday morning.  Thank you, Mr. Craig.

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:47 p.m.
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